

MATHEMATICAL PHYSICS SECTOR Scuola Internazionale Superiore di Studi Avanzati International School for Advanced Studies

## Some aspects of spinors – classical and noncommutative –

SUPERVISOR

Prof. Ludwik Dąbrowski

CANDIDATE

GIACOMO DOSSENA

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of "Doctor Philosophiæ"

ACADEMIC YEAR 2011/2012



Contents				
INTRODUCTION				
C	LASSI	CAL PART	7	
1	Aco	NCISE ACCOUNT OF BUNDLE THEORY	9	
	1.1	Fiber bundles	10	
	1.2	Vector bundles	11	
	1.3	Principal bundles	13	
	1.4	Associated bundles and structure groups	17	
	1.5	Vector bundles and principal $GL_n$ -bundles	19	
	1.6	Orientability of vector bundles	21	
	1.7	Spin structures	22	
2	Мет	RICS, ISOMETRIES, AND FRAME BUNDLES	27	
	2.1	Metrics on vector bundles ad splittings	28	
	2.2	Classification of frame bundles, and some applications	32	
3	Spinors and diffeomorphisms 3			

3.1	Spin structures revisited	39
3.2	Spinors	40
3.3	Spinor fields	43
3.4	Diffeomorphisms and spin structures	45
3.5	Diffeomorphisms and spinors	45
3.6	Equivariance of the Dirac operator	49
3.7	Brief account of some other approaches	50
3.8	Final remarks	51

53

#### **NONCOMMUTATIVE PART**

**4 PRODUCT OF REAL SPECTRAL TRIPLES** 55 4.1 55 55 57 Charge conjugation ..... 57 59 Definition of a real spectral triple ..... 60 4.2 Product of real spectral triples ..... 4.3 61 Even-even case 62 Even-odd case ..... 65 Odd-odd case 66 Further properties and their preservation under products .... 4.4 67 72 4.5 **A THE GRAM-SCHMIDT PROCEDURE AND FRAME BUNDLES** 73 **B** COVERING GROUPS 77 **BIBLIOGRAPHY** 81

# INTRODUCTION

The first clear record of the notion of a spin structure on a manifold is contained in Haefliger's paper [28] which also identifies the obstruction to the existence of such structure with the vanishing of the first Stiefel-Whitney class of the manifold. Similar results are also present in works by Frenkel and Dedecker ([22] and [17] treat the problem of the extension of a structure group in the broader setting of sheaf cohomology, in the spirit of [27]). In the physics literature this notion appeared quite late despite the pioneering works [20] and [57] aiming at defining the Dirac equation on curved Lorentzian manifolds. The reason is to be sought in the fact that the global character of spinors was not of primary concern when such early attempts were considered. See [50] and [52] for a nice exposition of the history of spinors and spin structures.

In sections 1.7 and 3.1 we shall present several definitions of a spin structure and illustrate differences and similarities among them. Before that, we start by giving a concise account of various bundle theory concepts needed to introduce spin structures. This account will serve the dual purpose of setting notation and proving some results which are needed for our discussion.

In Chapter 2 we introduce metrics on vector bundles and analyse the relationship among isometry classes, frame bundles and path-components of metrics. In particular, we prove Theorem 2.22 which is new to the best of our knowledge. In Chapter 3 the issue of general covariance of spinor fields (for brevity: spinors) and related objects is reconsidered. This question has in fact at least two aspects regarding the transformation rules with respect to two different (though intrinsically related) operations: a change of coordinate system, and a diffeomorphism. In physics literature one can sometimes find statements like "spinors transform as 'spinors' with respect to the former and as scalars with respect to the latter". While these statements can in a certain sense be justified, they are meaningful only after introducing certain mathematical structures and determining their transformation properties, as we shall explain in the next sections.

Even though in principle one usually works with vector (bilinear) or tensor (multilinear) combinations of spinors, or even with invariants (scalars) like the Lagrangian, a transformation rule of spinor fields is really needed if one wants to treat them as independent variables (e.g. with respect to some variational principle).

However a subtlety with spinors, as compared to tensors, is that one needs to work with particular double covers of the groups we are accustomed to in the case of tensors. The global mathematical constructs needed for this task have been developed in the second half of the last century [28], [2], [39], via the notion of spin structure. The notion of a spin structure  $\sigma$  is topological in nature, but for our purposes it is here considered as an auxiliary tool to the definition of spinors and, as such, it requires a Riemannian metric g to be specified on a given (oriented) smooth manifold M. More precisely one needs a prolongation of the principal SO<sub>n</sub> bundle SO<sub>g</sub>(M) of oriented g-orthonormal frames to the group  $\text{Spin}_n$ . Then there is the associated space of smooth spinor fields  $S_{\sigma,g}$  and the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{\sigma,g} = L^2(S_{\sigma,g}, \operatorname{vol}_g(M))$ . It should be stressed that the notion of spin structure is not only sufficient, but in fact necessary for the consistency of the definition of spinor fields in the following sense: given a principal  $Spin_n$ -bundle P on M, it corresponds to some spin structure on *M* (i.e. there is some equivariant bundle map  $m: P \to SO_g(M)$ ) if and only if TM is isomorphic (as a vector bundle) to  $P \times_{\text{Spin}_n} \mathbb{R}^n$ . In other words, if we demand spinors to project down to tensor fields we end up introducing spin structures.

The question of the change of coordinates is then translated to the transformation rules under the change of a local orthonormal frame and corresponding change of the local spinor frame. We shall understand such a change as an automorphism of the tangent bundle, the related automorphism of the bundle of frames, and its lift to a spin structure. It should be mentioned that a large automorphism (i.e. not belonging to the connected component of the group of automorphisms) may require however a change of the spin structure  $\sigma$ . Concerning the question of diffeomorphisms, it is its derivative (tangent map) that plays the role of the automorphism in question.

In all these cases we shall be able to give a transformation rule of spinor fields, i.e. define a new spinor field. This new spinor field, unless the automorphism respects the metric (so the diffeomorphism is an isometry), will in general be a spinor field associated to a different metric, namely the pull back of the original metric. More precisely, we are able to give the components of the new spinor field with respect to the transformed frame (or more precisely transformed spinor frame). We should stress at this point that remaining solely in the aforementioned framework does not permit to describe the components of a given one and the same spinor field with respect to two linear frames which are orthonormal with respect to two different metrics<sup>1</sup>. This becomes possible however if the theory allows spinors with an infinite number of components (which carry a faithful representation of a double covering of the oriented general linear group). Such an extension is not usually appreciated (see however [45], [44]).

As far as the group  $\operatorname{Diff}^+(M)$  of orientation preserving diffeomorphisms of M is concerned, it acts both on g (by a pull-back) and on  $[\sigma]$  (by a suitably defined pull-back  $f^*\sigma$ ). We shall show that any  $f \in \operatorname{Diff}^+(M)$  lifts (in exactly two ways) to a unitary operator from  $\mathscr{H}_{\sigma,g}$  to  $\mathscr{H}_{f^*\sigma,f^*g}$ . This provides a kind of a unitary implementation (in a sense that we shall specify) of the action of a certain double covering  $\operatorname{\widetilde{Diff}}^+_{\sigma}(M)$  of the subgroup  $\operatorname{Diff}^+_{\sigma}(M)$  of  $\operatorname{Diff}^+(M)$  preserving the spin structure  $\sigma$ , so in particular of the connected component

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Actually conformally related frames can still be treated.

of  $\text{Diff}^+(M)$ . Moreover we prove that the canonically defined Dirac operator is shown to be equivariant with respect to these actions, so in particular its spectrum is invariant under the diffeomorphisms.

In this thesis we work with smooth (oriented) manifolds and use componentfree notation, the usual spinor or vector indices can be easily inserted. We take the components of spinors as usual numbers, but our discussion applies in the anticommuting (Grassmann) case as well.

We now turn our attention to the noncommutative part of this thesis.

In noncommutative geometry spaces are traded for algebras. The main idea can be traced back to the Gelfand-Naimark duality established in the 1943 paper [23] between the category of compact Hausdorff spaces - and continuous functions between them – and the category of commutative unital  $C^*$ -algebras – and unital \*-homomorphisms between them (compare also the sheaf theoretic approach to algebraic geometry started around the same period of time, or even the earlier concept of group algebra developed by Emmy Noether in the 1920s). Loosely speaking, relaxing the commutativity assumption on the algebraic side should then correspond to a generalization of the concept of a compact Hausdorff space (although strictly speaking this is a generalization of the *category* of such spaces). Noncommutative geometry focuses on spin Riemannian manifolds to achieve a generalization which is akin in spirit to the Gelfand-Naimark duality, even though to date it has been investigated mainly at the level of objects. As a candidate for the objects in this correspondence Connes has introduced the notion of a spectral triple. This is basically an algebra together with a Hilbert representation and a self-adjoint operator, together with certain axioms suggested by the commutative case (see Section 4.2 below for a precise definition). Moreover, other additional properties (dimension, regularity, reality, first order, orientation, smoothness, see [10], [26], [11]) again suggested by the commutative case can be used to characterise the commutative spectral triples of manifolds among all commutative spectral triples. These further properties have been formulated for noncommutative spectral triples [10]. They are satisfied e.g by the noncommutative torus, and part of them holds for various quantum groups.

The composition of not necessarily commutative spectral triples corresponding to the Cartesian product of manifolds is of relevance for construction of a would-be tensor category, but also bears interest for some applications in theoretical physics. Classically, spinors on product manifolds have been considered for instance in Kaluza-Klein type models, see e.g. [56] and subsequent generalizations to supergravity and string theories. As an example on the noncommutative side instead, the almost commutative spectral triple corresponding to the standard model of particle physics [7] is a tensor product of a canonical commutative spectral triple with a finite dimensional noncommutative one. Moreover the tensor product with a spectral triple of complex dimension is used in the Connes-Marcolli treatment [11] of dimensional renormalization of quantum fields.

In Chapter 4 we study in more detail the behaviour under tensor product of one of the additional properties, namely the reality axiom. This axiom is much more important in the noncommutative case as it is there employed in the formulation of few of the other axioms.

We carefully analyse all the possibilities and note that in even dimensions there are always two real structure operators *J*, that differ by multiplication by the grading operator. None of them should be preferred as they are perfectly on the same footing. This leads to a richer table of their possible tensor products, which we study systematically, completing the results of [54] (see also [46]) obtained for the even-even case and the even-odd (or odd-even) case. We construct also the tensor product of two odd real spectral triples (that requires a doubling of the tensor product of the Hilbert spaces). When dealing with odd spectral triples we are careful about the two inequivalent representations of gamma matrices (Clifford algebra).

Composing two even-dimensional Dirac operators we consider two choices, which differ by using the chirality operator (grading) either of the first or of the second space. The two operators thus obtained are unitarily equivalent if no other requirements are imposed, but this is no longer the case when boundaries are present ([6]). Moreover, the first expression is relevant for the composition of an even dimensional space with an odd dimensional one, while the second expression is relevant for the composition of an odd dimensional space with an even dimensional one.

For concreteness, we provide the explicit formulae for the eigenvalues and eigenvectors in terms of those of the individual components. Furthermore, we also analyse few of the additional conditions (axioms) like dimension, regularity, first order and orientation.

*Note.* The content of Chapters 3 and 4 corresponds to the following papers respectively:

- [14] *Dirac operator on spinors and diffeomorphisms*, L. Dabrowski and G. Dossena, to be published in Class. Quantum Grav. Preprint available at http://arxiv.org/abs/1209.2021
- [13] *Product of real spectral triples*, L. Dabrowski and G. Dossena, Vol. 8, No. 8 (2011) 1833–1848, Int. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys.

### CLASSICAL PART

## 1 A CONCISE ACCOUNT OF BUNDLE THEORY

What follows is a terse account of the part of bundle theory we need for our purposes. One can use [30], [47], [32], [29] as references. Most of the results in this chapter can be found there. In some cases we provide proofs for known results either for the sake of completeness or, sometimes, because they slightly differ from the accounts in the existing literature.

We shall use basically the theory of smooth manifolds and Lie groups as presented e.g. in [55], [4]. In particular, a smooth *n*-manifold *M* is a connected second countable Hausdorff topological space equipped with a smooth structure, that is a maximal  $C^{\infty}$  atlas of charts. Here a chart is an injective map  $U \xrightarrow{\phi} \Omega_U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  from an open subset  $U \subset M$  onto some open subset  $\Omega_U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ . As usual, two charts are compatible if their transition functions are  $C^{\infty}$  and an atlas is a collection of pairwise compatible charts whose domains cover *M*. Any open subset  $U \subset M$  inherits a smooth structure by restriction of charts and it follows by the definition that each map  $U \xrightarrow{\phi} \Omega_U$  is a diffeomorphism with respect to their corresponding smooth structures.

**Remark 1.1.** The familiar definition just sketched is somewhat redundant: we might as well take *M* as a set from the start and induce a topology on it by declaring a subset  $S \subset M$  open if for each chart  $(U, \phi)$  of a chosen atlas belong-

ing to the maximal atlas the set  $\phi(S \cap U)$  is open in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . The global topological properties required in the familiar definition above (connectedness, second countability, Hausdorffness) are then to be viewed as conditions on any atlas defining the smooth structure. See [4] for a beautiful account of this approach to manifolds.

**Remark 1.2.** Many aspects of the theory of bundles are topological in nature and can be developed in the continuous case. However, since we shall eventually apply them to smooth manifolds and smooth bundles (where the Dirac equation belongs), the following treatment will present the theory mainly for the smooth case. Switching to the continuous case is mostly done by substituting all occurrences of the words "smooth" and "diffeomorphic" with the words "continuous" and "homeomorphic" respectively, and by substituting all smooth manifolds with topological manifolds or with sufficiently nice topological spaces (e.g. CW complexes). The use of more general spaces is also possible in the context of Dold's approach (see [18] and Appendix 1 in [30]).

#### **1.1** FIBER BUNDLES

We now briefly review the notion of a fiber bundle. The theory of fiber bundles is ubiquitous in classical geometry and in most of the geometrical aspects of theoretical physics. It is hard to overestimate its importance.

**Definition 1.3.** A surjective smooth map  $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$  between manifolds is a (smooth) *fiber bundle* with *base space* B, *total space* E and *typical fiber* F if there are a smooth manifold F and an open cover  $\{U_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in A\}$  of B together with diffeomorphisms  $U_{\alpha} \times F \xrightarrow{\psi_{\alpha}} \pi^{-1}(U_{\alpha})$  such that  $(\pi \circ \psi_{\alpha})(x, y) = x$ . The map  $\pi$  is called the *projection* of the bundle. The closed subspace  $F_x := \pi^{-1}(x) \subset E$ , which inherits from E a smooth structure making it diffeomorphic to F, is called the *fiber* over  $x \in B$ . The total space E is the disjoint union of all the fibers  $F_x$  when x runs over B.

For simplicity of notation, when no confusion arises we will indulge in the slight abuse of calling a fiber bundle by its total space.

**Definition 1.4.** Given two fiber bundles  $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$  and  $E' \xrightarrow{\pi'} B'$  with typical fibers *F* and *F'* respectively, a morphism from *E* to *E'* is a smooth map  $m: E \rightarrow E'$  such that there is a smooth map  $\mu: B \rightarrow B'$  satisfying  $\mu \circ \pi = \pi' \circ m$  (i.e. fibers are mapped into fibers). It is clear that an isomorphism of fiber bundles is a diffeomorphism between the total spaces such that  $\mu \circ \pi = \pi' \circ m$  where  $\mu: B \rightarrow B'$  is a diffeomorphism between the base spaces. When B = B' and  $\mu = id_B$ , a morphism will be called a based-morphism (of fiber bundles over *B*).

A fiber bundle is then a generalization of the familiar Cartesian product of manifolds. Any fiber bundle based-isomorphic to  $B \times F \rightarrow B$ , where the projection is onto the first factor, is called a *trivial bundle*<sup>1</sup>. In our definition then a fiber bundle is locally trivial, and the diffeomorphisms  $\psi_{\alpha}$  as in Definition 1.3 are called *local trivializations*. For our purposes we can safely ignore bundles which are not locally trivial. Moreover, the local triviality condition allows us to use the powerful techniques of homotopy theory as we shall see.

#### **1.2** VECTOR BUNDLES

Among the fundamental examples of fiber bundles stands the notion of a vector bundle.

**Definition 1.5.** A (real or complex) *vector bundle* is a fiber bundle such that each fiber has a structure of a (real or complex) vector space. Morphisms are just fiber bundle morphisms which preserve the vector space structure on each fiber. Analogously for the notion of a based-morphism. The dimension of the fiber as a vector space is called the rank of the vector bundle.

Since in this and the next few sections we shall be concerned with real vector bundles only, we drop the real/complex qualification for the time being.

We record without proof a well known useful result (see [41], Lemma 2.3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Some authors distinguish between a trivial bundle and a trivializable one: both are bundles isomorphic to the product bundle but the former has a choice of isomorphism singled out, the latter has not.

**Lemma 1.6.** Given vector bundles  $E \rightarrow B$  and  $E' \rightarrow B$  of same rank n, a basedmorphism of fiber bundles  $f: E \rightarrow E'$  which restricts to a vector space isomorphism on each fiber is a based-isomorphism of vector bundles.

We recall a few examples of vector bundles.

**Example 1.7.** The primary example is the tangent bundle  $TM \xrightarrow{\pi} M$  of a smooth *n*-manifold *M*. It is a rank *n* vector bundle over *M*. Its total space is the set of all tangent vectors at  $x \in M$  when *x* runs over *M*. The projection  $\pi$  assigns to each tangent vector its point of tangency on *M*. The topological and smooth structures are defined on *TM* by local trivializations  $U \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \pi^{-1}(U)$  so as to make them diffeomorphisms, where  $U \subset M$  is a domain of a chart of *M*. It is important to note that the tangent bundle is a functor from the category of smooth manifolds (and smooth maps between them) and the category of smooth vector bundles. This means that to each map  $f: M \to M'$  there is associated a corresponding morphism  $Tf: TM \to TM'$  of vector bundles, and this association is functorial. We shall use this fact later.

**Example 1.8.** Another related example is the normal bundle of an embedded submanifold  $M \subset M'$  of a Riemannian manifold M'.

**Example 1.9.** All natural constructions of linear algebra (dual vector space, tensor product, direct sum, symmetric and anti-symmetric tensor product) give rise to corresponding constructions for a vector bundle. In particular when we apply these to the tangent bundle of a manifold we obtain fundamental objects used in geometrical accounts of classical mechanics and relativity theory (tensor fields, etcetera).

In Chapter 2 we shall need, along with the usual one given by based-isomorphisms, a stronger notion of equivalence between vector bundles<sup>2</sup>. We present it here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>It is possible to define an analogous stronger notion of equivalence for fiber bundles as well, but we shall not need it.

**Definition 1.10.** Given two rank *n* vector bundles  $E_0$  and  $E_1$  over a paracompact space *B*, they are *homotopic* if there is a rank *n* vector bundle *E* over  $B \times [0, 1]$  such that  $E \upharpoonright B \times \{i\} = E_i$  for i = 0, 1, where we identify  $B \times \{i\} \simeq B$ .

The following well known and fundamental lemma shows that being homotopic is not weaker than being based-isomorphic.

**Lemma 1.11.** Given a vector bundle *E* over  $B \times [0, 1]$ , where *B* is paracompact (e.g. a smooth manifold), the restrictions of *E* to the subspaces  $B \times \{0\}$  and  $B \times \{1\}$  are based-isomorphic vector bundles (identifying  $B \times \{0\} \simeq B \times \{1\} \simeq B$ ).

*Proof.* E.g. see Theorem 4.3 and Corollary 4.6 on pp.29–30 in [30].  $\Box$ 

In fact, in general being homotopic is strictly stronger than being basedisomorphic, as the following example shows.

**Example 1.12.** Given the trivial rank 2 vector bundle  $S^1 \times \mathbb{R}^2 \to S^1$  and a natural number  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , consider the line subbundle  $L_k$  defined by its corresponding Gauss map  $\Phi_k: S^1 \to \mathbb{RP}^1, \theta \mapsto [\cos k\theta : \sin k\theta]$  where [x: y] are homogeneous coordinates in  $\mathbb{RP}^1$ . In other words, it is a line in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  rotating around the origin while we move around  $S^1$ . Notice that  $k \neq k'$  implies that  $\Phi_k$  and  $\Phi_{k'}$ correspond to different elements in  $\pi_1(\mathbb{RP}^1) \simeq \pi_1(S^1) \simeq \mathbb{Z}$ . Also notice that  $L_k$ is trivial if and only if k is even, a nowhere vanishing section being given by  $\theta \mapsto (\cos k\theta, \sin k\theta)$ . By the well known fact that on S<sup>1</sup> there are only two isomorphism classes of line bundles, one represented by the trivial bundle and the other one represented by the Möbius bundle, we deduce that  $L_k \simeq L_{k'}$  if and only if  $k = k' \mod 2$ . However, for  $k \neq k'$  the line bundles  $L_k$  and  $L_{k'}$  are not homotopic. Indeed, given the projection  $p: S^1 \times [0, 1] \rightarrow S^1$ , assume there is a line bundle *L* on  $p^*(S^1 \times \mathbb{R}^2)$  such that  $L \upharpoonright S^1 \times \{0\} = L_k$  and  $L \upharpoonright S^1 \times \{0\} = L_{k'}$ . Then the corresponding Gauss map  $\Phi_L: S^1 \times [0,1] \to \mathbb{RP}^1$  determines a homotopy between  $\Phi_k$  and  $\Phi_{k'}$  as elements of  $\pi_1(\mathbb{RP}^1)$ , which implies k = k' as we observed before. Another way to interpret this example is the following: the tautological line bundle  $\gamma_1(\mathbb{R}^3) \to \mathbb{RP}^2$  is universal for 1-dimensional manifolds, and the line bundles  $L_{2k}$  and  $L_{2k+1}$  correspond to the two elements in

 $\pi_1(\mathbb{RP}^2) \simeq \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ . On the other hand, the tautological line bundle  $\gamma_1(\mathbb{R}^2) \to \mathbb{RP}^1$  is universal only for 0-dimensional manifolds.

#### **1.3 PRINCIPAL BUNDLES**

We now give the definition of a principal bundle and illustrate it by relevant examples.

**Definition 1.13.** Given a smooth manifold *M* and a real Lie group *G*, a principal *G*-bundle over *M* is a fiber bundle  $P \xrightarrow{\pi} M$  with typical fiber F = G together with a smooth right action  $P \times G \to P$  such that the bundle *P* admits local trivializations  $U_a \times G \xrightarrow{\psi_a} \pi^{-1}(U_a)$  with the property  $\psi_a(x, ab) = \psi_a(x, a)b$  for each  $x \in U_a$  and each  $a, b \in G$ .

**Definition 1.14.** Given two principal bundles  $P \xrightarrow{\pi} B$  and  $P' \xrightarrow{\pi'} B'$  of groups G and G' respectively and  $\rho: G \to G'$  a morphism of Lie groups, a  $\rho$ -morphism from P to P' is a morphism  $m: P \to P'$  of fiber bundles together with the condition  $m(ug) = m(u)\rho(g)$  for each  $u \in P$  and each  $g \in G$ . When B = B' and  $\mu = id_B$ , we call it a based- $\rho$ -morphism. When B = B',  $\mu = id_B$ , G = G', and  $\rho = id_G$ , we call it a based-G-morphism (of principal G-bundles over B).

As in the case of a fiber bundle, there is the notion of a trivial principal bundle: this is any principal *G*-bundle based-*G*-isomorphic to the bundle given by the Cartesian product  $B \times G \xrightarrow{\pi} B$  and projection  $\pi$  on the first factor, plus the global action  $B \times G \times G \to B \times G$  simply given by  $(x, g, h) \mapsto (x, gh)$ . We can then rephrase part of Definition 1.13 by saying that a principal *G*-bundle is locally trivial.

In a few words, a principal bundle is a fiber bundle whose typical fiber is a Lie group *G* acting globally (and freely) on the total space and such that the local trivializations are equivariant with respect to this action. The action is automatically free, in our definition, thanks to the local triviality. Notice also that *G* acts freely and transitively on each fiber. In conclusion, a principal bundle should not be confused with simply a fiber bundle whose typical fiber is a Lie group: the global action is part of the data. Another way to view a principal bundle is by considering a so called *principal homogeneous G-space* or *G-torsor*. These are just fancy names for a group *G* who forgot where its identity element is. In other words, it is a space which is acted upon freely and transitively by a group *G*. A principal bundle can then be viewed as a locally trivial bundle of *G*-torsors, i.e. a locally trivial bundle where each fiber has a structure of a *G*-torsor and the local trivializations preserve this structure. The global action is simply the action of *G* on each fiber. The local triviality condition ensures the continuity (or smoothness) of the global action.

If B = B',  $\mu \in \text{Diff}(B)$ , G = G', and  $\rho \in \text{Aut}(G)$  then the global action severely restricts the notion of a  $\rho$ -morphism: indeed any such morphism is automatically an isomorphism. In the literature this result is usually shown in the special case of a based-*G*-morphism, i.e.  $\rho = \text{id}_G$  and  $\mu = \text{id}_B$ , so it may be worthwhile to spell out a proof for this slightly more general case.

**Proposition 1.15.** Given two principal *G*-bundles  $P \xrightarrow{\pi} B$  and  $P' \xrightarrow{\pi'} B$  over the same base space *B* and given  $\rho \in \operatorname{Aut}(G)$ , consider a  $\rho$ -morphism  $m : P \to P'$ . If  $\mu \in \operatorname{Diff}(B)$ , then *m* is a  $\rho$ -isomorphism.

*Proof.* Let us consider the case of trivial bundles first. Given  $m: B \times G \to B \times G$  as in the claim, there are a smooth map  $f: B \to G$  and a diffeomorphism  $\mu: B \to B$  such that  $m(x, g) = (\mu(x), f(x)\rho(g))$ . The inverse is then given by

$$m^{-1}(x,g) = (\mu^{-1}(x), \rho^{-1}(f(\mu^{-1}(x))^{-1}g))$$

where  $\rho^{-1}$  is the inverse automorphism (i.e.  $\rho^{-1} \circ \rho = \rho \circ \rho^{-1} = \mathrm{id}_G$ ),  $\mu^{-1} \colon B \to B$  is the inverse diffeomorphism and  $f(x)^{-1}$  is the inverse of f(x) as an element of *G*. For the general case simply apply the above argument to local trivializations.

In the special case of  $\rho = id_G$  and  $\mu = id_B$  we obtain the following result.

**Corollary 1.16.** A based-*G*-morphism between principal *G*-bundles is an isomorphism.

Another important fact for principal bundles is the equivalence between the existence of a (global) section and triviality. We record it here.

**Proposition 1.17.** A principal *G*-bundle  $P \xrightarrow{\pi} B$  admits a section if and only if it is trivial.

*Proof.* If it is trivial then it surely admits a section. If  $\sigma: B \to P$  is a section, the map  $B \times G \to P$  given by  $(x, g) \mapsto \sigma(x)g$  is a based-*G*-morphism, hence a based-*G*-isomorphism by Corollary 1.16.

We now present two examples of principal bundles that we shall need later on.

**Example 1.18.** Recall that a basis of a vector space of dimension *n* is an ordered set of *n* linearly independent vectors. Given a rank *n* vector bundle  $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ , for each  $x \in B$  we can consider the set of all bases  $e_x = (e_{x,1}, \dots, e_{x,n})$  of  $E_x$ , also called frames in this context. The frame bundle  $Fr(E) \xrightarrow{\pi'} B$  of the vector bundle  $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$  is the principal GL<sub>n</sub>-bundle whose total space is the collection Fr(E) of all frames of  $E_x = \pi^{-1}(x)$ , as *x* runs over *B*, equipped with the subspace topology of the Whitney sum  $\oplus^n E$ . Its projection is  $\pi'(e_x) = x$  and its (right) action is  $e_x g = (\sum_j e_{x,j} g_{j1}, \dots, \sum_j e_{x,j} g_{jn})$ . In particular, this construction applies to the case when the vector bundle is the tangent bundle  $TM \to M$  of some smooth *n*-manifold *M*. In this case the frame bundle inherits a smooth structure, becoming a smooth principal GL<sub>n</sub>-bundle over *M*.

**Example 1.19.** Another example of a principal bundle is offered by the theory of covering spaces. A covering is a fiber bundle  $E \xrightarrow{p} B$  whose typical fiber F is a discrete countable space and whose total space E is connected. An automorphism of a covering is a self-diffeomorphism  $f: E \to E$  of the total space such that  $p \circ f = p$ , i.e. it does not move the fibers. A covering space such that the group of all automorphisms of the coverings acts transitively on the fibers is then a principal bundle (and called a regular covering, or Galois). A typical example is  $U(1) \xrightarrow{p} U(1)$ ,  $p(z) = z^n$  with  $n \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ . In this case the group of automorphisms is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}$  and the action is given by

 $e^{i\theta} \cdot [k] = e^{i(\theta + 2\pi k/n)}$ , where  $[k] = k \mod n$ . Another simple example is  $\mathbb{R} \xrightarrow{p} U(1)$ ,  $p(\theta) = e^{i\theta}$ . In this case the group is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}$  and the action of  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  is given by  $x \mapsto x + 2\pi n$ . The first homotopy groups  $\pi_1(E)$  and  $\pi_1(B)$  provide a very effective way to establish when a covering is Galois. Indeed, it is possible to prove that  $E \xrightarrow{p} B$  is Galois if and only if  $p_*(\pi_1(E))$  is normal as a subgroup of  $\pi_1(B)$ , where  $p_*$  is the map that sends a homotopy class  $[\gamma]$  of  $\pi_1(E)$  to the homotopy class  $[p \circ \gamma]$  of  $\pi_1(B)$ . In particular, every covering of a manifold *B* with Abelian  $\pi_1(B)$  is Galois.

#### **1.4** Associated bundles and structure groups

The notion of an associated bundle will shed some light on the role principal bundles have in the theory of fiber bundles.

**Definition 1.20.** Given a principal *G*-bundle  $P \xrightarrow{\pi} B$  and a left action  $\lambda: G \times F \to F$  of a Lie group *G* on a manifold *F*, we define the fiber bundle  $P \times_{\lambda} F \xrightarrow{\pi'} B$  whose total space is  $(P \times F)/\sim$  where  $(u, v) \sim (ug, \lambda(g^{-1}, v))$  for any  $g \in G$  and whose projection is  $\pi'[(u, v)] = \pi(u)$ . The typical fiber of  $P \times_{\lambda} F$  is *F*. We agree to call *associated* (to the pair  $(P, \lambda)$ ) any fiber bundle *E* based-isomorphic to  $P \times_{\lambda} F$ . In this case we say *G* is a *structure group* for *E*.

**Remark 1.21.** The use of a left action is just conventional: any right action  $\rho: F \times G \to F$ ,  $(y,g) \mapsto \rho(y,g)$  becomes a left action by defining  $(g,y) \mapsto \rho(y,g^{-1})$ .

If a fiber bundle  $E \to B$  is associated to a pair  $(P, \lambda)$  for some principal bundle P and action  $\lambda: G \times F \to F$ , we can somehow decouple the study of E into the study of P and of  $\lambda$  separately. The following simple examples illustrate this idea.

**Example 1.22.** If  $P \to B$  is a trivial principal bundle and  $\lambda: G \times F \to F$  is *any* left action, then the associated bundle  $P \times_{\lambda} F$  is trivial. In order to see it, let us choose a global section  $s: B \to P$  whose existence is guaranteed by Propo-

sition 1.17. Then a based-isomorphism of  $P \times_{\lambda} F$  to the trivial bundle  $B \times F$  is given by  $[(s(x)g, v)] \mapsto (x, \lambda(g, v))$ .

**Example 1.23.** Somewhat dual to the previous example: if  $\lambda$  is the trivial action, i.e.  $\lambda(g, v) = v$  for each  $g \in G$ , and  $P \xrightarrow{\pi} B$  is *any* principal *G*-bundle, then  $P \times_{\lambda} F$  is trivial. The isomorphism is given by  $[(u, v)] \mapsto (\pi(u), v)$ .

If *F* carries more structure (e.g. a vector space structure) and the *G*-action preserves it, then  $P \times_{\lambda} F$  can be given this structure fiberwise. A precise treatment of this point in full generality is beyond the scope of this work. We shall limit ourselves to when *F* is a vector space. The vector space structure on each fiber of  $P \times_{\lambda} F$  is then defined by  $r[(u, v)] + r'[(u', v')] = [(u, rv + r'\lambda(g, v'))]$ where  $r, r' \in \mathbb{R}$  and u' = ug for a unique  $g \in G$ . We agree to extend the attribute of associated bundle and structure group to this case: so a structure group of a rank *n vector* bundle *E* must come together with a *linear* representation on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

To appreciate the usefulness of "decoupling" a fiber bundle into some principal bundle *P* and some action  $\lambda$ , we need the following definition.

**Definition 1.24.** Given a principal *G*-bundle  $P \rightarrow B$  and a morphism  $\rho: G' \rightarrow G$ , where *G* and *G'* are topological or Lie groups, a  $(G', \rho)$ -structure of *P* (or simply a *G'*-structure or a  $\rho$ -structure when the various ingredients are understood) is a principal *G'*-bundle  $P' \rightarrow B$  together with a based- $\rho$ -morphism  $m: P' \rightarrow P$ . When  $\rho$  is injective (resp. surjective) the pair (P', m) is also called a *G'*-reduction (resp. *G'*-prolongation) of *P*, the morphism  $\rho$  being understood.

**Remark 1.25.** A principal bundle *P* might not admit some  $(G', \rho)$ -structures. For instance, if  $\rho: G' \to G$  is the trivial morphism, i.e.  $\rho(g') = 1_G$  for all  $g' \in G'$ , then the existence of a  $\rho$ -structure  $m: P' \to P$  is equivalent to the triviality of *P* (one way is clear; for the other one, simply consider the global section defined by  $x \mapsto m(u')$  for any  $u' \in P'$ ).

We can now state the following proposition.

**Proposition 1.26.** Assume *E* is a fiber bundle which is associated to  $(P, \lambda)$  for some principal *G*-bundle and some left action  $\lambda: G \times F \to F$ . If (P', m) is a  $(G', \rho)$ -structure of *P* for some  $\rho: G' \to G$ , then *E* is associated to the pair  $(P', \lambda \circ \rho)$  where – with a little abuse of notation – we indicate by  $\lambda \circ \rho$  the *G'*-action on *F* given by  $(g', v) \mapsto \lambda(\rho(g'), v)$ .

*Proof.* The map  $P' \times_{\lambda \circ \rho} F \to P \times_{\lambda} F$  given by  $[(u', v)] \mapsto [(m(u'), v)]$  is well defined. Indeed,  $[(u'g', \lambda(\rho(g'^{-1})v,))] \mapsto [(m(u')\rho(g'), \lambda(\rho(g'^{-1}), v))] = [(m(u'), v)]$ . One can check that it is a based-isomorphism of fiber bundles. By composing with the based-isomorphism  $P \times_{\lambda} F \to E$ , which exists by assumption, we obtain the result.

It is then clear that a bundle  $E \rightarrow B$  can be associated to more than one pair  $(P,\rho)$ . It can also have more than one structure group. For instance, a fiber bundle is trivial if and only if it has the trivial group among its structure groups.

The concepts of an associated bundle and of a structure group for a vector bundle will be essential ingredients of subsequent sections.

#### 1.5 Vector bundles and principal $GL_n$ -bundles

The frame bundle construction provides a bridge between vector bundles and principal  $GL_n$ -bundles. This bridge can be made into an equivalence of categories as follows. First of all, recall that a *groupoid* is a category whose morphisms are isomorphisms.

**Definition 1.27.** We write  $Prin_{GL_n}(B)$  for the category of principal  $GL_n$ -bundles over *B* and principal based- $GL_n$ -morphisms between them. We write  $Vect_n(B)$  for the category of rank *n* vector bundles over *B* and based-morphisms between them.

Corollary 1.16 shows that  $Prin_{GL_n}(B)$  is a groupoid. On the other hand, there are based-morphisms between same rank vector bundles which are not based-isomorphisms of vector bundles (for instance, the trivial morphism

which assigns the zero vector to each vector, fiberwise). However, given a category *C*, we can always consider its maximal subgroupoid  $C^{\times}$  obtained by discarding all morphisms which are not isomorphisms. Let us then consider the maximal subgroupoid Vect<sub>*n*</sub>(*B*)<sup>×</sup>.

The frame bundle construction can be promoted to a functor  $Fr: \operatorname{Vect}_n(B)^{\times} \to \operatorname{Prin}_{\operatorname{GL}_n}(B)$  by the following observation: to each based-isomorphism  $E \xrightarrow{f} E'$  of vector bundles we can associate a based-GL<sub>n</sub>-morphism of principal GL<sub>n</sub>-bundles  $Fr(E) \xrightarrow{Fr(f)} Fr(E')$  by

$$Fr(f)(e_1,...,e_n) = (f(e_1),...,f(e_n)).$$

Since f is a vector space isomorphism on each fiber, this definition is well posed. One can check that this makes Fr a functor.

The pseudo inverse functor, which we indicate by  $Fr^{-1}$  for lack of a better name, is given as follows. Let us consider the identity representation id:  $GL_n \rightarrow$  $GL_n$  viewed as a left action of  $GL_n$  on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and for each object  $P \xrightarrow{\pi} B$  of  $Prin_{GL_n}(B)$ construct the associated bundle  $Fr^{-1}(P) = P \times_{id} \mathbb{R}^n$ .

Any based-GL<sub>n</sub>-morphism  $P \xrightarrow{m} P'$  of principal GL<sub>n</sub>-bundles over *B* gives a vector bundle based-isomorphism  $Fr^{-1}(P) \xrightarrow{Fr^{-1}(m)} Fr^{-1}(P')$  defined by

$$Fr^{-1}(m)([(u,v)]) = [(m(u),v)].$$

One can check that this is well defined and it is indeed a vector bundle basedisomorphism, with inverse given by  $[(u', v)] \mapsto [(m^{-1}(u'), v)]$ . Hence  $Fr^{-1}$ :  $Prin_{GL_n}(B) \rightarrow Vect_n(B)^{\times}$  is a functor.

#### **Theorem 1.28.** $Vect_n(B)^{\times}$ and $Prin_{GL_n}(B)$ are equivalent categories.

*Proof.* The functors Fr and  $Fr^{-1}$  provide the equivalence. First, consider  $Fr^{-1} \circ Fr$ . There is an isomorphism  $Fr(E) \times_{id} \mathbb{R} \to E$  given by  $[(e, v)] \mapsto e_i v_i$ , the naturality being clear. Second, consider  $Fr \circ Fr^{-1}$  and call  $l_i$  the canonical basis of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . There is an isomorphism  $Fr(P \times_{id} \mathbb{R}^n) \to P$  given by  $[u, l_i]_{i=1,...,n} \mapsto u$ . Again the naturality is clear.

By this equivalence we obtain at once the following corollaries.

**Corollary 1.29.** There is a bijective correspondence between based-isomorphism classes of rank *n* vector bundles and based-GL<sub>n</sub>-isomorphism classes of principal GL<sub>n</sub>-bundles. In particular, two frame bundles  $Fr(E) \rightarrow B$  and  $Fr(E') \rightarrow B$  are based-GL<sub>n</sub>-isomorphic if and only if the vector bundles  $E \rightarrow B$  and  $E' \rightarrow B$  are based-isomorphic.

**Corollary 1.30.** For each vector bundle  $E \rightarrow B$  there is a group isomorphism  $Aut(E) \simeq Aut(Fr(E))$ , the group structure being given by composition of automorphisms within their respective categories.

Notice that by Theorem 1.28 any vector bundle has  $GL_n$  as a structure group, and any vector bundle is the associated bundle of some principal  $GL_n$ -bundle (namely its frame bundle). Moreover, a vector bundle *E* is trivial if and only if we can reduce its structure group to the trivial group. Indeed, a reduction to the trivial group is equivalent to a global section of the frame bundle Fr(E) and, by Proposition 1.17, the existence of a global section is equivalent to the triviality of Fr(E), which in turn is equivalent to the triviality of *E* by Corollary 1.29.

#### **1.6** ORIENTABILITY OF VECTOR BUNDLES

We recall that for a *n*-dimensional vector space *V* an orientation is a choice of an equivalence class of bases, where two bases  $(e_1, \ldots, e_n)$  and  $(e'_1, \ldots, e'_n)$  are called equivalent if their transition matrix has positive determinant. When a choice of orientation has been made, any basis belonging to the chosen class is called oriented.

**Proposition 1.31.** On any *n*-dimensional vector space there are precisely two orientations. Given a basis *e*, exchanging any two elements of *e* changes the orientation.

*Proof.* Suppose two bases e' and e'' do not lie in the equivalence class of a third basis e. Since any ordered pair of bases possesses a transition matrix (either with positive or negative determinant), we can write e = e'g and e = e''h

with det g < 0 and det h < 0. Then e'g = e''h, that is  $e' = e''hg^{-1}$ . Since det $(hg^{-1}) > 0$ , it follows that e' and e'' lie in the same equivalence class. For the second part of the statement, just observe that the transition matrix between e and the basis e' obtained from e by exchanging two elements has determinant -1.

For vector bundles the notion of orientability is as follows.

**Definition 1.32.** A rank *n* vector bundle  $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$  is called *orientable* if an orientation can be defined on each fiber in such a way that each  $x \in B$  has a neighbourhood  $U \subset B$  admitting *n* sections  $s_i : U \to E$  with the property that  $(s_1(y), \ldots, s_n(y))$  is an oriented basis of  $E_y$  for each  $y \in U$ . A vector bundle with a choice of orientation is called *oriented*.

There is another way to look at the orientability of a vector bundle which makes use of its frame bundle.

**Theorem 1.33.** An orientation of a rank *n* vector bundle *E* is equivalent to  $a(GL_n^+, \iota)$ -reduction of its frame bundle, where  $\iota: GL_n^+ \hookrightarrow GL_n$  is the obvious inclusion of  $GL_n^+ = \{g \in GL_n \mid \det g > 0\}$  into  $GL_n$ .

*Proof.* Assume *E* is oriented. The set of its oriented frames  $Fr^+(E)$  is a principal  $\operatorname{GL}_n^+$ -bundle with action on fibers simply obtained by restricting the usual action to  $\operatorname{GL}_n^+$ . The inclusion map  $Fr^+(E) \hookrightarrow Fr(E)$  is clearly an injective based-*i*-morphism, hence a  $(\operatorname{GL}_n^+, i)$ -reduction of Fr(E). Conversely, assume there is a principal  $\operatorname{GL}_n^+$ -bundle  $P \to B$  and a based-*i*-morphism  $m : P \to Fr(E)$ . Then the image  $m(P) \subset Fr(E)$  defines an orientation on *E*. Indeed, for each  $x \in B$  consider a local trivialization of *P* on some neighbourhood  $U \subset B$  of *x* and take any section  $s_U : U \to P$ . Then  $m \circ s_U : U \to Fr(E)$  selects a basis of  $E_y$  for each  $y \in U$  and its orientation is independent of the chosen section: any other section  $s'_U$  is related to  $s_U$  by  $s'_U(y) = s_U(y) \phi(y)$  for some map  $\phi : U \to \operatorname{GL}_n^+$ , hence  $m(s'_U(y)) = m(s_U(y)) \iota(\phi(y)) = m(s_U(y)) \phi(y)$ . Having defined orientations on each fiber of *E*, any local section  $m \circ s_U$  can be viewed as a set of linearly independent local sections  $s_i$  of *E* such that  $(s_1(y), \ldots, s_n(y))$  lies in the orientation class selected by m(P).

The analog of Proposition 1.31 for vector bundles is the following.

**Proposition 1.34.** On any orientable vector bundle  $E \rightarrow B$  there are precisely  $2|\pi_0(B)|$  orientations. When *B* is connected, any based-automorphism of *E* either preserves or reverses the orientation.

Proof. See Section 4.4 in [29].

#### **1.7** Spin structures

In the preceding section we have seen that an orientation of a vector bundle  $E \rightarrow B$  amounts to a reduction of its structure group from  $GL_n$  to its connected component  $GL_n^+$ . This can be viewed as a way to pass from a structure group with  $\pi_0(GL_n) = \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$  to a structure group with  $\pi_0(GL_n^+) = 0$  while keeping all higher homotopy groups unchanged:  $\pi_k(GL_n^+) \simeq \pi_k(GL_n)$  for  $k \ge 1$ . In topological terms this counts as a simplification: for instance, any orientable line bundle is trivial (over a paracompact space; the converse is also true, independently of the base space).

Given a locally path-connected topological space X, we say it is n-connected if  $\pi_k(X) = 0$  for  $0 \le k \le n$  and  $\pi_k(X) \ne 0$  for k = n + 1. By Proposition 1.17 it is not hard to prove that, when G is a n-connected topological group, a principal G-bundle over a CW complex B is trivial over the (n+1)-skeleton of B. This in turn implies the triviality over the (n+1)-skeleton of any of its associated bundles. From this point of view, then, the existence of a  $(G', \rho)$ -structure with G'n-connected has remarkable consequences on the topology of a fiber bundle. In particular, when B has sufficiently low dimension the fact that a fiber bundle  $E \rightarrow B$  admits a G'-structure with G' sufficiently more highly connected implies the triviality of E. In other words, if dim B = k then the existence of a G'-structure for  $E \rightarrow B$ , with G' some (k - 1)-connected group, would imply at once the triviality of E.

In the case of a rank *n* vector bundle *E*, the next step would consist in finding a 1-connected group *G* such that  $\pi_k(G) \simeq \pi_k(\operatorname{GL}_n^+)$  for  $k \ge 2$ , together with a morphism  $\rho: G \to \operatorname{GL}_n^+$  (this morphism guarantees, via Proposition 1.26, that *G* is a structure group for *E*). Clearly, the universal covering group of  $GL_n^+$  is such an object (for the general definition see Appendix B).

**Remark 1.35.** Surprising as it may seem, the homotopy groups of  $GL_n^+$  are usually hard to compute and their complete understanding is still lacking. They are isomorphic to the homotopy groups of  $SO_n$  by the homotopy equivalence given by the Gram-Schmidt procedure, and the latter groups are related to the homotopy groups of spheres by viewing  $SO_{n+1}$  as the total space of a principal  $SO_n$ -bundle over  $S^n$ , where  $SO_n \subset SO_{n+1}$  and the action is given by right multiplication (see Example 3.65 in [55] for details about this bundle). The cases n = 1, 2 are somewhat special:  $GL_1^+$  is contractible hence  $\pi_k(GL_1^+) = 0$  for  $k \ge 1$ ;  $GL_2^+$  is homotopy equivalent to  $SO_2 \simeq S^1$  hence  $\pi_1(GL_2^+) = \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\pi_k(GL_2^+) = 0$  for  $k \ge 2$ .

By the general theory of covering spaces, the universal covering of a space X has  $|\pi_1(X)|$  many sheets. Since  $\pi_1(\operatorname{GL}_1^+) = 0$ ,  $\pi_1(\operatorname{GL}_2^+) = \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\pi_1(\operatorname{GL}_n^+) = \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$  for  $n \ge 3$ , we see that for  $n \ge 3$  the universal covering is 2-sheeted. This suggests the following definition.

**Definition 1.36.** Given a oriented rank *n* vector bundle  $E \to B$ , a spin structure on *E* is a  $(\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_n^+, \rho_n)$ -structure of  $Fr^+(E)$ , where  $\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_n^+ \xrightarrow{\rho_n} \operatorname{GL}_n^+$  is the 2-sheeted covering group of  $\operatorname{GL}_n^+$  as defined in Appendix B. Two spin structures (P, m) and (P', m') on *E* are equivalent if there is a based- $\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_n^+$ -morphism  $P \xrightarrow{f} P'$  such that  $m = m' \circ f$ .

We record here some fundamental results (see e.g. [36], [25], [12]).

**Proposition 1.37.** A oriented rank *n* vector bundle  $E \rightarrow B$  admits a spin structure if and only if its second Stiefel-Whitney class  $w_2(E)$  vanishes. There is a free and transitive action of  $H^1(B, \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$  on the set of equivalence classes of spin structures on *E*. In particular,  $H^1(B, \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$  enumerates the inequivalent spin structures on *E*.

By the above discussion, it is not surprising that for a rank  $n \ge 3$  vector bundle  $E \rightarrow B$  there is an equivalent definition in terms of trivializations of *E* over skeleta of *B*.

**Proposition 1.38.** Given a oriented rank *n* vector bundle  $E \rightarrow B$  of rank  $n \ge 3$ , a spin structure on *E* is the same as a trivialization of *E* over the 2-skeleton of *B*.

*Proof.* See Section 5.6 in [25].

Notice that, since  $\pi_2(\operatorname{GL}_n^+) = 0$  as every Lie group, we can automatically extend a trivialization over the 2-skeleton to a trivialization over the 3-skeleton. In particular, if dim(*B*)  $\leq$  3 a rank  $n \geq$  3 vector bundle over *B* admits a spin structure if and only if it is trivial.

A slight inconvenience of Definition 1.36 is that it uses groups which are "larger" than necessary. In Chapter 3 we shall present other equivalent definitions based on the concept of a metric on  $E \rightarrow B$ . Metrics will be introduced in Chapter 2.

**Remark 1.39.** As a side note we remark that the idea of "unwrapping" the structure group of a vector bundle does not end at the level of spin structures. Since, as already observed,  $\pi_2(\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_n^+) = 0$  we are led to consider a 3-connected group *G* with a morphism  $G \to \operatorname{GL}_n^+$  inducing isomorphisms on the higher homotopy groups. If *G* were a Lie group, the general theory would imply *G* to be contractible (see [36]) leading to trivial bundles directly. Instead, we can look at topological groups. Such a *G* has actually been considered (see [48] for the original paper and [31] for some information) and called String<sub>n</sub>, and a manifold admitting such a structure is called a string manifold. String structures are related to the Hoehn-Stolz conjecture about the existence of positive Ricci curvature metrics.

## 2 METRICS, ISOMETRIES, AND FRAME BUNDLES

In this chapter we introduce metrics of general signature on vector bundles and explore the corresponding category. In particular, we are interested in studying the effect of changing a metric  $\eta$  on a fixed vector bundle E (we have in mind the problem of studying all metrics on the tangent bundle of a manifold). In this setting, we shall clarify the relationship among  $E_{\eta}$ , its frame bundle  $Fr(E_{\eta})$ , and the path-component of  $\eta$  in the space of metrics. We shall see that all these notions can be translated in terms of a splitting of E. The analysis then shows that there is a natural bijection between the set of isomorphism classes of  $E_{\eta}$  and the set of isomorphism classes of its frame bundle  $Fr(E_n)$ , while the set of path-components of metrics on E is generally larger (the special case of positive definite metrics stands alone, in that there is only one isomorphism class of  $E_{\eta}$  and one path-component of metrics). A few examples and applications are given. Most of the material in this chapter is classical, even though a unified discussion of these matters seem to be missing in the literature. Theorem 2.16 (or its generalization 2.22) appears to be new, to the best of our knowledge.

#### 2.1 METRICS ON VECTOR BUNDLES AD SPLITTINGS

The familiar notion of an inner product (i.e. a non-degenerate symmetric bilinear form) on a vector space can be extended as well to the vector bundle setting.

**Definition 2.1.** Given two non-negative integers  $p,q \in \mathbb{N}$  summing to n, a (p,q)-metric  $\eta$  on a rank n vector bundle  $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$  is a smooth assignment of an inner product  $\eta_x : E_x \times E_x \to \mathbb{R}$  of signature (p,q) for each  $x \in B$ , where p is the number of positive eigenvalues of any representative matrix for  $\eta_x$ , and q is the number of negative ones. We agree to call *Euclidean* a metric of signature (n,0), *anti-Euclidean* a metric of signature (0,n), and *Lorentzian* a metric of signature (1, n - 1).

It is well known that every vector bundle (whose base space is paracompact) admits a Euclidean metric. Now let us fix a rank *n* vector bundle  $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ and consider the linear space of sections of the bundle  $\otimes^2 E^* \to B$ . The subset of Euclidean metrics  $\mathcal{M}_{n,0}(E)$  inherits the structure of an open positive convex cone. In particular, given any two Euclidean metrics  $\eta, \eta' \in \mathcal{M}_{n,0}(E)$ , the assignment  $[0,1] \ni t \mapsto (1-t)\eta + t\eta'$  is a path in  $\mathcal{M}_{n,0}(E)$  from  $\eta$  to  $\eta'$ . We shall use this fact in the next proposition. Before that, we need to briefly recall a classical result and to introduce the notion of a splitting of a vector bundle.

**Lemma 2.2.** Two symmetric bilinear forms on a finite dimensional vector space can be simultaneously diagonalized when one of them is positive definite.

Sketch of proof. Consider the inner product space defined by the positive definite form and apply the spectral theorem to the other symmetric bilinear form.  $\Box$ 

**Definition 2.3.** A *splitting* of a vector bundle  $E \to B$  is an ordered pair of its vector subbundles  $N \subset E \to B$  and  $M \subset E \to B$  such that  $E = N \oplus M$  as bundles. *N* and *M* are the *parts* of the splitting. Two such splittings  $N \oplus M$ 

and  $N' \oplus M'$  are called *equivalent* if there are two vector bundle based-isomorphisms  $f: N \to N'$  and  $g: M \to M'$ . Equivalently, there is a vector bundle based-automorphism  $m: E \to E$  which sends each part of the first splitting onto each part of the second splitting (respecting the order of the pair). Two equivalent splittings are called *homotopic* if the based-isomorphisms in the definition of equivalence just given can be strengthen to be homotopies. Equivalently there is a vector bundle  $\tilde{E}$  over  $B \times [0, 1]$  with a splitting which, when restricted to  $B \times \{0\}$  and  $B \times \{1\}$ , coincides with each of the two splittings of E. If  $E = N \oplus M$  is a splitting of E whose parts have rank p and q respectively, then the splitting is also called a (p,q)-splitting. Moreover, if  $\eta$ is a (p,q)-metric on E such that its restrictions to each part of the splitting have definite signatures (p, 0) and (0, q) respectively, and such that the two parts are  $\eta$ -orthogonal, then the splitting is said to be  $\eta$ -adapted. When dealing with  $\eta$ -adapted splittings, we agree to order the splitting by the sign of the metric on each part: if  $N \oplus M$  is  $\eta$ -adapted, and  $\eta$  is positive definite on N and negative definite on M, we then choose (N, M) as ordering. Homotopies and equivalences of  $\eta$ -adapted splittings must then respect this ordering.

**Proposition 2.4.** Given a (p,q)-metric  $\eta$  on  $E \to B$ , there is a  $\eta$ -adapted (p,q)-splitting of E and any two  $\eta$ -adapted (p,q)-splittings of E are homotopic (hence also equivalent).

*Proof.* We shall break the proof into three parts.

We first prove that a choice of a Euclidean metric on E → B defines a η-adapted (p,q)-splitting of E. Choose a Euclidean metric β on E → B. For each x ∈ B consider the two symmetric bilinear forms β<sub>x</sub> and η<sub>x</sub> on E<sub>x</sub>. Since β<sub>x</sub> is positive-definite, by Lemma 2.2 we can simultaneously diagonalize β<sub>x</sub> and η<sub>x</sub> with respect to some basis {e<sub>i</sub>} of E<sub>x</sub>. Now consider the linear isomorphism m<sub>x</sub> := (η<sub>x</sub>)<sup>-1</sup> ∘ β<sub>x</sub>: E<sub>x</sub> → E<sub>x</sub> where β<sub>x</sub>: E<sub>x</sub> → E<sup>\*</sup><sub>x</sub> and η<sub>x</sub>: E<sub>x</sub> → E<sup>\*</sup><sub>x</sub> are the dual maps given by v ↦ β<sub>x</sub>(v,·) and v ↦ η<sub>x</sub>(v,·) respectively (they are invertible because of the non-degeneracy of the metrics). In an arbitrary basis the operator m<sub>x</sub> has the expression m<sup>i</sup><sub>j</sub> = η<sup>ik</sup>β<sub>jk</sub>, so in the basis {e<sub>i</sub>} it becomes diagonal

with positive and negative eigenspaces coinciding with the corresponding eigenspaces for  $\eta_x$ . The splitting is then defined by the positive and negative eigenspaces of  $m_x$  as x runs over B.

- 2. We then prove that, even though the splitting constructed in point 1 depends on the choice of a Euclidean metric on *E*, its homotopy class (and hence also its equivalence class) is independent of it. Choose two Euclidean metrics  $\beta_i$  on *E* (i = 0, 1) and apply the construction of point 1 above to obtain splittings  $E = E_+^0 \oplus E_-^0 = E_+^1 \oplus E_-^1$ . The path  $t \mapsto \beta_t = (1 t)\beta_0 + t\beta_1$  defines a Euclidean metric  $\beta$  on  $\pi^*E \to B \times [0, 1]$ , the pullback bundle of  $E \to B$  under the projection  $\pi: B \times [0, 1] \to B$ . On  $\pi^*E$  we can also consider the pullback  $\pi^*\eta$ , which is again a (p,q)-metric, and we then repeat the construction of point 1 with respect to  $\pi^*E, \pi^*\eta$  and  $\beta$  to obtain a splitting of  $\pi^*E$  which obviously coincides with  $E_+^i \oplus E_-^i$  over  $B \times \{i\}$  (i = 0, 1).
- We finally prove that any η-adapted (p,q)-splitting of E can be constructed as we did in point 1. Given an η-adapted (p,q)-splitting E = E<sub>+</sub>⊕E<sub>-</sub>, take any two Euclidean metrics β<sub>+</sub> and β<sub>-</sub> on E<sub>+</sub> and E<sub>-</sub> respectively. Then the splitting E<sub>+</sub>⊕E<sub>-</sub> arises via the construction of point 1 by using the Euclidean metric defined by β(v, w) = β<sub>+</sub>(v<sub>+</sub>, w<sub>+</sub>)+β<sub>-</sub>(v<sub>-</sub>, w<sub>-</sub>) where v = v<sub>+</sub> ⊕ v<sub>-</sub>, w = w<sub>+</sub> ⊕ w<sub>-</sub> with v<sub>+</sub>, w<sub>+</sub> ∈ E<sub>+</sub> and v<sub>-</sub>, w<sub>-</sub> ∈ E<sub>-</sub>.

Remark 2.5. The proposition above is basically Theorem 8.11 in [32].

The following is a sort of converse of Proposition 2.4.

**Proposition 2.6.** Given a (p,q)-splitting  $E = N \oplus M$ , there is a (p,q)-metric  $\eta$  on E such that  $N \oplus M$  is a  $\eta$ -adapted (p,q)-splitting.

*Proof.* Take any Euclidean metrics  $\beta_N$  and  $\beta_M$  on N and M respectively, and define  $\eta(v, w) := \beta_N(v_N, w_N) - \beta_M(v_M, w_M)$  where  $v = v_N + v_M$  and  $w = w_N + w_M$  with  $v_N, w_N \in N$  and  $v_M, w_M \in M$ .

Let us now consider the problem of enumerating the path-connected components of the space  $\mathcal{M}_{p,q}(E)$  of (p,q)-metrics on a given rank p + q vector bundle  $E \to B$ . We have the following classical theorem (see §40 in [47] for a slightly different approach).

**Theorem 2.7.** There is a bijection between the set of path-components of  $\mathcal{M}_{p,q}(E)$ and the set of homotopy classes of rank p subbundles of E.

*Proof.* In the cases (p,q) = (n,0) and (p,q) = (0,n) the claim holds true: since positive definite or negative definite metrics form a positive convex cone in the space of sections of  $\otimes^2 E \rightarrow B$  (see Section 2.1), it follows that there is only one path-component; in both cases there is only one homotopy class of rank *p* subbundles of *E*: either *E* itself or the rank 0 bundle. Let then *p* and *q* be both nonzero and fix a Euclidean metric  $\beta$  on *E*. We define a bijection between the set  $\mathcal{M}_{p,q}(E)$  and the set of rank *p* subbundles of *E* and then show it descends to a well defined bijection on equivalence classes, where the equivalence is by path-components and by homotopic subbundles respectively. The bijection is as follows: given a *p*-subbundle  $N_0 \subset E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$  we construct a (p,q)metric  $\eta_0$  on *E* by considering the  $\beta$ -orthogonal decomposition  $N_0 \oplus N_0^{\perp}$  and defining  $\eta_0(v, w) = \beta(v', w') - \beta(v'', w'')$ , where  $v = v' \oplus v'' \in N_0 \oplus N_0^{\perp}$  and  $w = w' \oplus w'' \in N_0 \oplus N_0^{\perp}$ . The inverse operation is as in Proposition 2.4: take a (p,q)-metric  $\eta_0$  and define  $N_0 = E^+$  where  $E^+ \oplus E^-$  is the (p,q)-splitting defined by the positive and negative eigenspaces of  $(\widetilde{\eta_0})^{-1} \circ \widetilde{\beta}$ . We now show that this bijection descends to equivalence classes. Assume  $N_0$  and  $N_1$  are homotopic, hence there is a *p*-subbundle  $N \subset j^*E \xrightarrow{j^*\pi} B \times [0,1]$  such that  $N \upharpoonright B \times \{i\} = L_i, i = 0, 1$  (here  $j : B \times [0, 1] \rightarrow B$  denotes the projection onto the first factor). There is a  $j^*\beta$ -orthogonal decomposition  $j^*E = N \oplus N^{\perp}$ . The metric defined by  $\eta(v, w) = (j^*\beta)(v', w') - (j^*\beta)(v'', w'')$ , where  $v = v' \oplus v'' \in N \oplus N^{\perp}$ and  $w = w' \oplus w'' \in N \oplus N^{\perp}$ , is a (p,q)-metric on  $j^*E$  which restricts to  $\eta_i$  on  $(j^*\pi)^{-1}(B \times \{i\}), i = 0, 1$ . Evaluating  $\eta$  on each p-subbundle  $(j^*\pi)^{-1}(B \times \{t\}) \simeq$ E for each  $t \in [0,1]$  gives a path in  $\mathcal{M}_{p,q}(E)$  joining  $\eta_0$  to  $\eta_1$ . Conversely, let  $\eta: [0,1] \to \mathcal{M}_{p,q}(E)$  be a path of (p,q)-metrics such that  $\eta(0) = \eta_0$  and  $\eta(1) = \eta_1$ . By viewing  $\eta$  as a (p,q)-metric on  $j^*E \xrightarrow{j^*\pi} B \times [0,1]$  we decompose  $j^*E$  into positive and negative eigenvalues of  $(\tilde{\eta})^{-1} \circ j^*\beta$ . Clearly the positive part restricts to  $N_i$  on  $(j^*\pi)^{-1}(B \times \{i\})$ , i = 0, 1 and the proof is complete. It is also clear that the induced bijection on equivalence classes is independent of a choice of  $\beta$ .

**Remark 2.8.** It can be proven that the homotopy class of a (p,q)-splitting is completely determined by the homotopy class of one of its two parts. In other words, given splittings  $N_0 \oplus M_0$  and  $N_1 \oplus M_1$  of  $E \to B$ , if  $N_0$  and  $N_1$  are homotopic then  $M_0$  and  $M_1$  are homotopic. This implies that Theorem 2.7 is actually equivalent to the (only apparently) weaker statement: "There is a bijection between the set of path-components of  $\mathcal{M}_{p,q}(E)$  and the set of homotopy classes of (p,q)-splittings of E". We might ask what corresponds to *equivalence* classes of (p,q)-splittings instead. The answer will be given in Section 2.2.

## 2.2 CLASSIFICATION OF FRAME BUNDLES, AND SOME APPLICATIONS

We are now in a good position to discuss vector bundles with (p,q)-metrics, their frame bundles and the relationship between the two. To ease notation we shall write  $E_{\eta} \rightarrow B$  for a vector bundle  $E \rightarrow B$  with a (p,q)-metric  $\eta$  on it.

**Definition 2.9.** Given two rank *n* vector bundles  $E_{\eta} \to B$  and  $E'_{\eta'} \to B$  where  $\eta$  and  $\eta'$  are (p,q)-metrics, an *isometry* from  $E_{\eta}$  to  $E'_{\eta'}$  is a morphism  $f: E \to E'$  of vector bundles such that  $\eta'(fv, fw) = \eta(v, w)$  for each  $v, w \in E$ . Analogously we define a *based-isometry* as an isometry which is a based-morphism.

**Remark 2.10.** Notice that an isometry restricts to an isomorphism of vector spaces on each fiber. Moreover, by Lemma 1.6 a based-isometry is automatically a based-isomorphism of vector bundles.

In analogy with Section 1.5 we now make the following definition.
**Definition 2.11.** We write  $Prin_{O_{p,q}}(B)$  for the category of principal  $O_{p,q}$ -bundles over *B* and principal based- $O_{p,q}$ -morphisms between them. We write  $Vect_{p,q}(B)$  for the category of rank p + q vector bundles over *B* with (p,q)-metrics and based-isometries between them.

**Remark 2.12.** By Remark 2.10  $\operatorname{Vect}_{p,q}(B)$  is a groupoid.

Just as we did in Example 1.18, we can define the frame bundle of a vector bundle with a metric as follows. Consider a vector bundle  $E \rightarrow B$  with a (p,q)-metric  $\eta$ . In this case we can take the set of all  $\eta$ -orthonormal frames, defined as bases  $(e_{x,1}, \ldots, e_{x,n})$  of  $E_x$  such that  $\eta(e_{x,i}, e_{x,j}) = \epsilon_{ij}$ , where

$$\epsilon_{ij} = \operatorname{diag}(\underbrace{1, \dots, 1}_{p \text{ times}}, \underbrace{-1, \dots, -1}_{q \text{ times}})$$

Notice that the *first p* vectors of a frame have squared length 1, while the *last* q vectors have squared length -1. The resulting bundle is a principal  $O_{p,q}$ -bundle, where  $O_{p,q}$  is the group of rank n matrices g such that  $g^t \epsilon g = \epsilon$ , the diagonal matrix  $\epsilon$  being defined as in the previous sentence.

We can therefore assign to each bundle  $E_{\eta} \rightarrow B$  its principal  $O_{p,q}$ -bundle of  $\eta$ -orthonormal frames, and the associated bundle construction (see Section 1.4) with action induced by the inclusion  $O_{p,q} \hookrightarrow GL_n$  can be used to reconstruct  $E_{\eta}$  (up to natural isomorphism) from its frame bundle. In other words, repeating the argument of Section 1.5 we obtain at once the following theorem.

#### **Theorem 2.13.** $Vect_{p,q}(B)$ and $Prin_{O_{p,q}}(B)$ are equivalent categories.

Again we have the following corollaries.

**Corollary 2.14.** There is a bijective correspondence between isomorphism classes of rank *n* vector bundles over *B* with (p,q)-metrics and isomorphism classes of principal  $O_{p,q}$ -bundles over *B*. In particular, two frame bundles  $Fr(E_{\eta}) \rightarrow B$  and  $Fr(E'_{\eta'}) \rightarrow B$  are isomorphic if and only if  $E_{\eta} \rightarrow B$  and  $E'_{\eta'} \rightarrow B$  are isomorphic.

**Corollary 2.15.** For each vector bundle with metric  $E_{\eta} \rightarrow B$  there is a group isomorphism  $\operatorname{Aut}(E_{\eta}) \simeq \operatorname{Aut}(Fr(E_{\eta}))$ , the group structure being given by composition of automorphisms within their respective categories.

Notice that introducing a (p,q)-metric on a vector bundle E amounts to restricting its structure group from  $GL_{p+q}$  to  $O_{p,q}$  via the inclusion morphism  $O_{p,q} \hookrightarrow GL_{p+q}$ . We shall not pursue this viewpoint here though.

The following theorem characterizes when two given (p,q)-metrics defined *on the same vector bundle*  $E \rightarrow B$  have based- $O_{p,q}$ -isomorphic principal bundles of orthonormal frames. Equivalently, by Corollary 2.14 it classifies the isometry classes of a vector bundle with respect to a signature (p,q).

**Theorem 2.16.** Given a rank p + q vector bundle  $E \rightarrow B$  and (p,q)-metrics  $\eta$ and  $\eta'$  on it, their respective principal  $O_{p,q}$ -bundles of orthonormal frames are based- $O_{p,q}$ -isomorphic if and only if some (hence all) of the  $\eta$ -adapted (p,q)splittings are equivalent to some (hence all) of the  $\eta'$ -adapted (p,q)-splittings.

Before presenting its proof we need the following lemma (see Theorem 8.8 in [32], or Problem 2-E in [41]).

**Lemma 2.17.** Let  $E \to B$  and  $E' \to B$  be two based-isomorphic vector bundles of rank *n*. For any (n, 0)-metrics  $\eta$  on *E* and  $\eta'$  on *E'* there is a based-isometry  $E_{\eta} \to E'_{n'}$ . The same holds true also for the case of (0, n)-metrics.

*Proof.* Let  $f: E \to E'$  be a based-isomorphism of vector bundles and consider on *E* the pullback metric  $\beta(v, w) := \eta'(f(v), f(w))$ . This is a (n, 0)-metric since  $\beta(v, v) = \eta'(f(v), f(v)) > 0$  for each nonzero  $v \in E$  while  $0 = \beta(v, v) = \eta'(f(v), f(v))$  implies f(v) = 0, which in turn implies v = 0. As in the proof of Proposition 2.4 we introduce the based-isomorphism defined fiberwise by  $m_x := (\widetilde{\beta_x})^{-1} \circ \widetilde{\eta_x} : E_x \to E_x$ . It satisfies  $\beta(m(v), w) = \eta(v, w)$  for each  $v, w \in E$  and its expression in any basis  $\{e_i\}$  of  $E_x$  is  $m_j^i = \beta^{ik}\eta_{jk}$ . By Lemma 2.2 we can simultaneously diagonalize the matrices  $\beta^{ij}$  and  $\eta_{ij}$  obtaining a diagonal matrix with strictly positive diagonal, hence  $m_x$  is positive and we can safely define  $\sqrt{m_x}$ , which satisfies  $\beta(\sqrt{m}(v), \sqrt{m}(w)) = \eta(v, w)$ . For a

positive matrix *M* the operation  $M \mapsto \sqrt{M}$  is smooth and by the local triviality of *E* it follows that  $\sqrt{m}$  defines a based-automorphism of *E* into itself. Now define  $r := f \circ \sqrt{m}$  and compute:  $\eta'(r(v), r(w)) = \eta'((f \circ \sqrt{m})v, (f \circ \sqrt{m})w) = \beta(\sqrt{m}(v), \sqrt{m}(w)) = \beta(m(v), w) = \eta(v, w)$ . For the case of (0, n)-metrics put  $\alpha := -\eta$  and  $\alpha' := -\eta'$  and apply the above to find  $r : E \to E'$  such that  $\alpha'(r(v), r(w)) = \alpha(v, w)$ . Then  $-\eta'(r(v), r(w)) = -\eta(v, w)$  which means  $\eta'(r(v), r(w)) = \eta(v, w)$ .

*Proof of Theorem 2.16.* Assume  $Fr(E_n)$  and  $Fr(E_{n'})$  are based- $O_{p,q}$ -isomorphic as principal bundles. By Corollary 2.14 there is some based-isometry  $f: E_\eta \rightarrow$  $E_{\eta'}$ . Now choose a  $\eta$ -adapted (p,q)-splitting of E (which exists by Proposition 2.4), call it  $E_{+}^{\eta} \oplus E_{-}^{\eta} = E$ , and define  $E_{+}^{\eta'} := f(E_{+}^{\eta}), E_{-}^{\eta'} := f(E_{-}^{\eta})$ . Then  $E_{+}^{\eta'} \oplus E_{-}^{\eta'}$  is a  $\eta'$ -adapted (p,q)-splitting of E: indeed, their sum is E because f is a vector bundle isomorphism and, since  $\eta'(f(v), f(w)) = \eta(v, w)$  for each  $v, w \in E$ , it follows that  $\eta'$  restricted to  $E_+^{\eta'} \times E_+^{\eta'}$  is Euclidean,  $\eta'$  restricted to  $E_-^{\eta'} \times E_-^{\eta'}$  is anti-Euclidean and finally  $E_{+}^{\eta'}$  and  $E_{-}^{\eta'}$  are  $\eta'$ -orthogonal. Clearly the restriction  $f \upharpoonright E_+^{\eta}$  is a based-isomorphism  $E_+^{\eta} \to E_+^{\eta'}$  of vector bundles; analogously for  $f \upharpoonright E_{-}^{\eta} : E_{-}^{\eta} \to E_{-}^{\eta'}$ . Hence the splittings  $E_{+}^{\eta} \oplus E_{-}^{\eta}$  and  $E_{+}^{\eta'} \oplus E_{-}^{\eta'}$  are equivalent. By Proposition 2.4 all  $\eta$ -adapted (p,q)-splittings are homotopic, hence equivalent by Lemma 1.11. In the same way, all  $\eta'$ -splittings are homotopic, hence equivalent. By transitivity it follows that each  $\eta$ -adapted (p, q)-splitting is equivalent to each  $\eta'$ -adapted (p,q)-splitting and this concludes the proof of the "only if" part of the claim. Conversely, let  $E^{\eta}_{+} \oplus E^{\eta}_{-}$  and  $E^{\eta'}_{+} \oplus E^{\eta'}_{-}$  be  $\eta$ adapted and  $\eta'$ -adapted (resp.) (p,q)-splittings of E such that there are vector bundle based-isomorphisms  $f_+: E_+^{\eta} \to E_+^{\eta'}$  and  $f_-: E_-^{\eta} \to E_-^{\eta'}$ . The restrictions  $\eta \upharpoonright E_+^{\eta} \times E_+^{\eta}$  and  $\eta' \upharpoonright E_+^{\eta'} \times E_+^{\eta'}$  define two (p, 0)-metrics on  $E_+^{\eta}$  and  $E_+^{\eta'}$  respectively. Analogously the restrictions  $\eta \upharpoonright E^{\eta}_{-} \times E^{\eta}_{-}$  and  $\eta' \upharpoonright E^{\eta'}_{-} \times E^{\eta'}_{-}$  define two (0,q)-metrics on  $E_{-}^{\eta}$  and  $E_{-}^{\eta'}$  respectively. By applying the preceding Lemma we obtain based-isometries  $r_+: E_+^{\eta} \to E_+^{\eta'}$  and  $r_-: E_-^{\eta} \to E_-^{\eta'}$ . Finally the map  $r: E_{\eta} \to E_{\eta'}$  defined by  $r(v \oplus w) := r_+(v) + r_-(w)$  for each  $v \in E_+^{\eta}$  and each  $w \in E_{-}^{\eta}$  is a based-isometry. By Corollary 2.14 this means  $Fr(E_{\eta})$  and  $Fr(E_{\eta'})$ are based- $O_{p,q}$ -isomorphic. 

**Remark 2.18.** Theorem 2.16 generalizes to any signature the known fact that any two Euclidean (or anti-Euclidean) metrics on the same vector bundle have isomorphic frame bundles. Indeed when (p,q) = (n,0) (or (p,q) = (0,n)) any splitting is trivially *E* itself. We point out here that the Gram-Schmidt procedure, which can be applied to the Euclidean (or anti-Euclidean) case to produce a map from the bundle of  $\eta$ -orthonormal frames to the bundle of  $\eta$ '-orthonormal frames, is generally not an isomorphism of principal bundles since it does not commute with the respective actions. Instead, it is so if and only if  $\eta$  and  $\eta'$  are conformally equivalent, as shown in Appendix A.

Remark 2.19. In some cases Theorem 2.16 and Proposition 2.6 easily allow us to give an upper bound on the number of isomorphism classes of frame bundles for a given rank p + q vector bundle  $E \rightarrow B$  and a given signature (p,q). Indeed, if we agree to call  $V_p(E)$  the set of isomorphism classes of rank p vector subbundles of E, then the cardinality of  $V_p(E) \times V_q(E)$  is such an upper bound (hardly sharp, however). For instance, for the tangent bundle of the 2-torus  $T^2$  this upper bound is  $2^4$  (here we are also using the fact that if the Euler characteristic  $\gamma(M)$  of a closed connected even dimensional manifold *M* vanishes, then every line bundle over *M* can be realized as a line subbundle of its tangent bundle, up to vector bundle isomorphism; see Theorem 2.1 in [33]); this upper bound is further reducible to 4 by making use of the theory of Stiefel-Whitney classes. As another example, on the 3-sphere S<sup>3</sup> every vector bundle is trivial, hence there is only one class of frame bundles for any metric on any vector bundle  $E \rightarrow S^3$  and this is true, in particular, for (1,2)-metrics on the tangent bundle; this should be compared with the number of pathcomponents of (1,2)-metrics on the tangent bundle of  $S^3$ , which by Theorem 2.7 is given by the number of homotopy classes of line fields. According to Example 1.7 in [34], there are countably many of them.

As another application of the theory so far, we consider time-orientable Lorentzian metrics. First we recall the definition.

**Definition 2.20.** A Lorentzian metric  $\eta$  on a vector bundle  $E \to B$  is called *time-orientable* when there exists a timelike smooth section, i.e.  $s: B \to E$ 

such that  $\eta(s(x), s(x)) > 0$  for each  $x \in B$ .

Assume two Lorentzian metrics  $\eta$  and  $\eta'$  on E are time-orientable, with timelike sections s and s' respectively, and consider the line subbundles L and L' spanned by s and s' respectively. Given a Euclidean metric  $\beta$  on E, we find adapted (1, n - 1)-splittings  $L \oplus L^{\perp}$  and  $L' \oplus L'^{\perp}$  which, by Proposition 2.4, specify the homotopy class of any  $\eta$ -adapted (resp.  $\eta'$ -adapted) splitting. Since L and L' are trivial, by Theorem 2.16 we deduce that the orthonormal frame bundles for  $\eta$  and  $\eta'$  are based- $O_{1,n-1}$ -isomorphic if and only if  $L^{\perp}$  and  $L'^{\perp}$ , which are rank n - 1 spacelike distributions on E, are based-isomorphic vector bundles. We have then proven the following result.

**Proposition 2.21.** Any two time-orientable Lorentzian metrics on a rank *n* vector bundle have based- $O_{1,n-1}$ -isomorphic frame bundles if and only if they admit rank n - 1 space-like distributions which are based-isomorphic as vector bundles.

Let us now reconsider the question of when two different metrics on the same vector bundle give isomorphic frame bundles of orthonormal frames. Theorem 2.16 gives the solution when both metrics have same signature (p,q). When the metrics have different signatures some care is needed. The notion of isomorphism for principal bundles that we are interested in is that of based-G-isomorphism, hence G = G' and  $\rho = id_G$  (see Definition 1.14). We are then led to the question of when two different pairs (p,q) and (p',q') such that p+q=p'+q'=n give the *equality*  $O_{p,q} = O_{p',q'}$ . Without loss of generality we can assume p > p'. If  $p' \neq 0$  take any nontrivial  $R \in O_2$  and consider the matrix M which has R as the submatrix  $M_{ij}$  for  $(i, j) \in \{p', p'+1\} \times \{p', p'+1\}$  and  $M_{ij} = \delta_{ij}$  otherwise. A short computation shows that  $M \in O_{p,q}$  and  $M \notin O_{p',q'}$ . If p' = 0 a similar argument shows that for  $q \neq 0$  the groups  $O_{p,q}$  and  $O_{p',q'}$  are different. The only case left is (p,q) = (n,0) and (p',q') = (0,n), which clearly gives equal groups  $O_{n,0} = O_{0,n} = O_n$ . Hence the only case when metrics of different signature can have isomorphic frame bundles is when (p,q) = (n,0)

and (p',q') = (0, n). Let then  $\eta$  and  $\eta'$  be metrics on E of signature (n,0) and (0, n) respectively. It is easy to check that the identity map  $\mathrm{id}_E \colon E \to E$  gives a based- $O_n$ -isomorphism  $Fr(E_{-\eta'}) \to Fr(E_{\eta'})$ . By composing with the based- $O_n$ -isomorphism  $Fr(E_{\eta}) \to Fr(E_{-\eta'})$  of Theorem 2.16 we deduce that  $Fr(E_{\eta})$  and  $Fr(E_{\eta'})$  are based- $O_n$ -isomorphic. We collect these findings in the following theorem, which generalizes Theorem 2.16.

**Theorem 2.22.** Given a rank n vector bundle  $E \to B$  and two metrics  $\eta$  and  $\eta'$ of signatures (p,q) and (p',q') respectively, where p + q = p' + q' = n, their respective principal bundles of orthonormal frames are based- $O_{p,q}$ -isomorphic if and only if either both metrics have same signature (p,q) and equivalent adapted (p,q)-splittings, or the two metrics have signatures (n,0) and (0,n).

Also the treatment of Section 1.5 can be extended just as well to the case of different signatures. There is an obvious isomorphism of categories  $\operatorname{Vect}_{p,q}(B) \simeq \operatorname{Vect}_{q,p}(B)$  given by the assignment  $E_{\eta} \mapsto E_{-\eta}$  on objects and the identity on morphisms. We can compose this *isomorphism* together with the *equivalences*  $\operatorname{Vect}_{p,q}(B) \sim \operatorname{Prin}_{O_{p,q}}(B)$  and  $\operatorname{Vect}_{q,p}(B) \sim \operatorname{Prin}_{O_{q,p}}(B)$ , thus obtaining the equivalence  $\operatorname{Prin}_{O_{p,q}}(B) \sim \operatorname{Prin}_{O_{q,p}}(B)$  according to the following diagram.

$$\operatorname{Prin}_{\mathcal{O}_{p,q}}(B) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Prin}_{\mathcal{O}_{q,p}}(B)$$

$$\downarrow^{\sim} \qquad \uparrow^{\uparrow}$$

$$\operatorname{Vect}_{p,q}(B) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \operatorname{Vect}_{q,p}(B)$$



#### 3.1 Spin structures revisited

As already noted earlier in Section 1.7, a slight inconvenience of Definition 1.36 is that it uses groups which are "larger" than necessary. Since *B* is paracompact, we can pick up any Euclidean metric on  $E \rightarrow B$  and reduce the structure group from  $\operatorname{GL}_n^+$  to  $\operatorname{SO}_n$ , which is compact. The covering map  $\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_n^+ \xrightarrow{\rho_n} \operatorname{GL}_n^+$  induces a 2-sheeted covering<sup>1</sup>  $\operatorname{Spin}_n \xrightarrow{\rho_n} \operatorname{SO}_n$ , where  $\operatorname{Spin}_n := \rho_n^{-1}(\operatorname{SO}_n)$  (obviously  $\operatorname{Spin}_n$  is isomorphic, as a Lie group, to the group of the same name constructed through Clifford algebra).

**Proposition 3.1.** Given a oriented rank *n* vector bundle  $E \rightarrow B$  with a Euclidean metric  $\eta$  on it, a spin structure on *E* is equivalent to a  $(\text{Spin}_n, \rho_n)$ -structure on  $Fr^+(E_\eta)$ .

Sketch of proof. Given a  $(\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_n^+, \rho_n)$ -structure (P, m) on  $Fr^+(E)$ , consider the natural inclusion  $Fr(E_\eta) \subset Fr(E)$ . Then  $(m^{-1}(Fr^+(E_\eta)), m)$  is a  $(\operatorname{Spin}_n, \rho_n)$ -structure (with principal action on  $m^{-1}(Fr^+(E_\eta))$  given by restricting the action of  $\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_n^+$ ). Conversely, given a  $(\operatorname{Spin}_n, \rho_n)$ -structure (P, m) on  $Fr^+(E_\eta)$ , the bundle  $P \times_{\operatorname{Spin}_n} \widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_n^+$  associated to P via the natural left action of  $\operatorname{Spin}_n$  on  $\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_n^+$ , together with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>For notational simplicity we keep the name  $\rho_n$  for the map  $\rho_n \upharpoonright \text{Spin}_n$ .

the map m'[u,g] = [m(u),g], is a  $(\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_n^+, \rho_n)$ -structure (where the  $\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_n^+$ -action is given by [u,g]h = [u,gh]). It can be proven that this construction defines a bijection between equivalence classes (see [15] for details about this geometric proof; for a homotopic proof, see [42]).

As the names of the groups involved reveal, the definition in terms of  $\text{Spin}_n$  is more common than the one in terms of  $\widetilde{\text{GL}}_n^+$ . Although we shall still need  $\text{Spin}_n$  to define spinors (see Section 3.2), we opted for Definition 1.36 in order to decouple the notion of a spin structure from that of a Euclidean metric in view of subsequent investigations carried out in this chapter.

For vector bundles of rank  $n \ge 4$  there is a similar result by using Lorentzian metrics.

**Theorem 3.2.** Given a rank  $n \ge 4$  vector bundle  $E \to B$  with a time-oriented and space-oriented Lorentzian metric  $\eta$  on it, a spin structure on E (relative to the orientation of E induced by the orientations for time and space) is equivalent to a  $(Spin_{1,n-1}^0, \rho_n)$ -structure of  $Fr^+(E_\eta)$ , where  $Spin_{1,n-1}^0 \xrightarrow{\rho_n} SO_{1,n-1}^0$  has been introduced in Appendix B.

*Proof.* See 4 in [8] for a sketchy proof, and Chapter 8 in [42] for a rigorous proof; the latter is also a beautiful and thorough account of the matter.

#### 3.2 Spinors

Hereafter we consider the above theory applied only to the case of the tangent bundle TM of a manifold M. Following tradition, we call g a Euclidean<sup>2</sup> metric on TM instead of using greek letters. For notational simplicity, we shall put  $Fr(TM) = GL^+(M)$  for the bundle of oriented frames and  $Fr(TM_g) = SO_g(M)$ for the bundle of oriented g-orthonormal frames.

We start by describing some algebraic structures behind spinors of a finite dimensional Euclidean space. They will be used to describe the structures on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Called *Riemannian* in this context.

typical fibers of various bundles we shall encounter on manifolds (alternatively think of what happens at a point of a manifold).

Recall that a usual vector or tensor of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of type R, where R is some representation of  $GL_n$  in  $\mathbb{R}^k$ , can be viewed as a map from the space F of oriented linear frames in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  to  $\mathbb{R}^k$ , which is  $GL_n$ -equivariant i.e. it intertwines the canonical action of  $GL_n$  on F with R. Equivalently, given any (positive or negative) definite bilinear form (metric) g on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , one can work with the space  $F_g$  of oriented g-orthonormal frames in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , that carries a natural action of  $SO_n$ . Then, we can regard a vector (or a tensor) as a map from  $F_g$  to  $\mathbb{R}^k$ , which is equivariant under (restriction of) the representation R to  $SO_n$ .

For spinors one usually uses the (nontrivial) double cover  $\rho_n$ : Spin<sub>n</sub>  $\rightarrow$  SO<sub>n</sub>, and a free orbit  $\tilde{F}_g$  of Spin<sub>n</sub> (called space of 'spinor frames' of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ) together with a 2:1 identification map  $\eta: \tilde{F}_g \rightarrow F_g$ , such that  $\eta(\tilde{e}h) = \eta(\tilde{e})\rho_n(h)$ , where  $\tilde{e} \in \tilde{F}_g$  and  $h \in \text{Spin}_n$ . Given a representation R: Spin<sub>n</sub>  $\rightarrow$  GL( $k, \mathbb{C}$ ) of Spin<sub>n</sub> we shall view a R-spinor of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  as an R-equivariant map  $\psi$  from  $\tilde{F}_g$  to  $\mathbb{C}^k$ . There is an obvious  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear structure on the space of R-spinors.

Obviously the interesting case here is when *R* is not a tensor representation, i.e. does not descend to a representation of SO<sub>n</sub>. This is the case e.g. for  $R = \mu$ , where  $\mu$  is the restriction to Spin<sub>n</sub> of the fundamental (also called spin) representation of the Clifford algebra  $\mathbb{C}l_n$ . The carrier complex space of  $\mu$  has dimension  $k = 2^{n/2}$  for even *n* and  $k = 2^{(n-1)/2}$  for odd *n*.

**Remark 3.3.** Since  $\text{Spin}_n$  is compact, by averaging over it we can consider any of its representations (hence also  $\mu$ ) as being unitary with respect to a suitable hermitian inner product. In the case of the standard metric and the representation  $\mu$ , this is just the standard inner product on  $\mathbb{C}^k$ .

Hereafter we fix the spin representation *R* to be  $\mu$ : Spin<sub>*n*</sub>  $\rightarrow U(k)$ ,  $k = 2^{[n/2]}$ , and consider  $\mu$ -spinors  $\psi : \tilde{F}_g \to \mathbb{C}^k$ , i.e.  $\psi(uh) = \mu(h^{-1})\psi(u), \forall u \in \tilde{F}_g, h \in$ Spin<sub>*n*</sub>. The inner product is given in terms of the standard inner product in  $\mathbb{C}^k$ , as  $(\psi, \phi) := (\psi(u) | \phi(u))$  (the right hand side is independent of *u*).

In order to liberate the setting from the dependence on the metric a natural temptation would be to use  $\rho_n: \widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_n^+ \to \operatorname{GL}_n^+$ , as we did in Section 1.7 (for notational simplicity we use the same letter  $\rho_n$  for the extension). This extends the double cover  $\operatorname{Spin}_n \to \operatorname{SO}_n$  and is a central extension of  $\operatorname{GL}_n^+$  by  $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ . Unfortunately  $\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_n^+$  is not usually used as a 'structure' group for spinors, for the reason that it is not a matrix group, i.e. it has only infinite-dimensional faithful representations, while geometric objects are usually assumed to have finite number of components. Instead, every finite-dimensional representation of  $\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_n^+$  descends to a (tensor) representation of  $\operatorname{GL}_n^+$ , at least for  $n \ge 3$  (see Lemma 5.23 in [36]). Thus we have to stick to the subgroup  $\operatorname{Spin}_n$  and so the space of spinors will be always labelled by a metric. Concretely, a spinor labelled by a metric g will be a  $\mu$ -equivariant map from the orbit  $\widetilde{F}_g := \eta^{-1}(F_g) \subset$  $\widetilde{F}$  of  $\operatorname{Spin}_n$  to  $\mathbb{R}^k$ . We shall however employ  $\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_n^+$ , as well as its free orbit space  $\widetilde{F}$  together with a 2:1 covering map  $\eta : \widetilde{F} \to F$ , that intertwines the relative actions, in order to define the transformation of spinors under an oriented automorphism  $\beta$  of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . More precisely we can and shall lift  $\beta$  to an automorphism  $\widetilde{\beta}$  of  $\widetilde{F}$  and define the transformed spinor as

$$\psi' = \psi \circ \tilde{eta}_{g_2}$$

where  $\tilde{\beta}_g$  is the restriction of  $\tilde{\beta}$  to  $\widetilde{F_{\beta^*g}}$ . The domain of  $\psi'$ , understood as an equivariant map, is  $\widetilde{F_{\beta^*g}}$ . Clearly the new spinor  $\psi'$  is labelled by the pullback metric  $g' = \beta^* g$ . Note that the components of  $\psi'$  with respect to the spinor basis  $\tilde{e}'$  are equal to the components of  $\psi$  with respect to the spinor basis  $\tilde{e} = \tilde{\beta}(\tilde{e}')$ , i.e.  $\psi'(\tilde{e}') = (\psi \circ \tilde{\beta})(\tilde{e}') = \psi(\tilde{e})$ . Moreover, since for any  $\beta$  there are precisely two lifts  $\tilde{\beta}$  (which differ just by a sign) we get actually a double covering  $\operatorname{Aut^+}(\mathbb{R}^n) \simeq \operatorname{GL}_n^+$  of the group  $\operatorname{Aut^+}(\mathbb{R}^n) \simeq \operatorname{GL}_n^+$  that acts on spinors.

In the next section we shall globalize the structures described so far.

As already noted in Section 3.1, in the literature the notion of a spin structure is usually formulated for a Riemannian manifold (M, g) in terms of a principal Spin<sub>n</sub>-bundle over M double covering the bundle SO<sub>g</sub>(M) of oriented g-orthonormal frames of M. Since in the following we shall vary the metric g, we use the metric-independent definition as in Section 1.7 (we refer to [49] for a nice survey about the two different definitions and their equivalence at the topological level). An oriented manifold M is called spin if  $w_2(M) = 0$  and sometimes we shall understand by this term a pair  $(M, \sigma)$  with a given spin structure  $\sigma$  on M.

**Remark 3.4.** A word of caution must be given: in some texts by a spin structure is understood an equivalence class of spin structures in our sense, i.e.  $GL_n^+$ - or Spin<sub>n</sub>-prolongations (see e.g. [40] and [31] p.61). Moreover, sometimes it is not clearly stated if a prolongation is meant or rather an equivalence class of prolongations, though this may be grasped from context. Clearly this is crucial for the issue of proper parametrization, e.g. it is the set of equivalence classes of spin structures on M which is known to be in bijective correspondence with  $H^1(M, \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$  (see e.g. Theorem 8.2 in [12]). Note also the difference with the case of reductions of the structure group – a reduction of a principal *G*-bundle *P* to some subgroup  $G' \subset G$  is a principal *G'*-subbundle  $P' \subset P$ . Two different reductions encode different information with respect to the inclusion into P, even though they might be equivalent as reductions (the equivalence is defined analogously as for prolongations). For instance two different  $O_n$ -reductions of the principal  $GL_n$ -bundle of frames over a manifold M correspond to different Riemannian metrics on M, even though any two such reductions are equivalent as explained in Chapter 2.

#### **3.3** Spinor fields

Let  $(M, g, \sigma)$  be a Riemannian spin manifold. Let  $R: \operatorname{Spin}_n \to \operatorname{GL}(k, \mathbb{C})$  be a (fixed) representation of  $\operatorname{Spin}_n$ . It is customary to call R-spinor field on Man R-equivariant map  $\psi: \operatorname{Spin}_g(M) \to \mathbb{C}^k$ , where  $\operatorname{Spin}_g(M)$  is the total space of the spin structure  $\sigma$  (here by spin structure we temporarily mean a  $\operatorname{Spin}_n$ prolongation of  $\operatorname{SO}_g(M)$ , i.e. we need the metric g). By R-equivariance we mean that  $\psi(ug) = R(g^{-1})\psi(u)$  for  $u \in \operatorname{Spin}_g(M)$  and  $g \in \operatorname{Spin}_n$ . As in Section 3.2 we are interested in those R that are not tensor representations, e.g. in the unitary Dirac representation  $\mu$  of  $\operatorname{Spin}_n$  in the complex space of dimension  $k = 2^{[n/2]}$ . We denote by  $S_{\sigma,g}$  the space of  $\mu$ -spinor fields, often named Dirac spinor fields, for the spin structure  $\sigma$  and the metric g. There is an obvious  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear structure on  $S_{\sigma,g}$  induced by pointwise operations. Note that for different metrics we have a priori different spaces  $S_{\sigma,g}$  (see [49] for a geometric description of a configuration space for both spinors and metrics).

An inner product on  $S_{\sigma,g}$  can be defined as follows: take a cover  $\{(U_{\alpha}, h_{\alpha})\}_{\alpha \in A}$ of M which trivializes  $\text{Spin}_g(M)$ . Given  $\psi, \phi \in S_{\sigma,g}$  consider the global function  $a_{\psi,\phi} \colon M \to \mathbb{C}$  defined locally by

$$a_{\psi,\phi}(x) := (\psi(u_x) | \phi(u_x))$$

where  $u: U_{\alpha} \to \text{Spin}_{g}(M)(U_{\alpha})$  is any local section of  $\text{Spin}_{g}(M)$  (in writing u we omit the dependency on the index  $\alpha$  to simplify notation). Consider the global (yet locally defined,  $\alpha$ -dependency omitted) n-form  $e^{1} \land \cdots \land e^{n}$  where  $e^{j}$  is the g-dual of  $e_{j} := \eta_{g}(u_{j})$ . Finally put:

$$\langle \psi \mid \phi \rangle_{\sigma,g} := \int_M a_{\psi,\phi} e^1 \wedge \cdots \wedge e^n$$

It is easy to see that the above definition does not depend on the trivialization. Note that  $e^1 \wedge \cdots \wedge e^n = \operatorname{vol}_g(M)$ , the *g*-volume form of *M*.

We then make the following definition.

**Definition 3.5.** The Hilbert space of spinors  $\mathscr{H}_{\sigma,g}$  for a given spin structure  $\sigma$  and metric g is the  $L^2$ -completion of the inner product space  $(S_{\sigma,g}, \langle | \rangle_{\sigma,g})$ .

It is natural to investigate what happens to  $\mathcal{H}_{\sigma,g}$  under a change of spin structure. For equivalent spin structures the answer is given by the next proposition.

**Proposition 3.6.** If we choose an equivalent  $GL_n^+$ -prolongation  $\sigma' = (GL^+(M)', \eta')$ , the principal  $\widetilde{GL_n^+}$ -isomorphism  $m : \widetilde{GL^+}(M)' \to \widetilde{GL^+}(M)$  induces a unitary operator  $U : \mathscr{H}_{\sigma,g} \to \mathscr{H}_{\sigma',g}$  given by

$$U\psi = \psi \circ m_g$$

where  $m_g = m \upharpoonright \eta'^{-1}(SO_g(M))$ .

*Proof.* The operator *U* is clearly linear. It is invertible with inverse given by  $U^{-1}\psi = \psi \circ (m_g)^{-1}$ . To prove unitarity let us put  $\psi' = \psi \circ m_g$ . It is now enough to observe that  $a_{\psi,\phi'} = a_{\psi,\phi}$ . From this we obtain  $\langle U\psi | U\phi \rangle = \int_M a_{\psi,\phi'} \operatorname{vol}_g(M) = \int_M a_{\psi,\phi} \operatorname{vol}_g(M) = \langle \psi | \phi \rangle$ .

**Remark 3.7.** Given two equivalent  $\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_n^+$ -prolongations of  $\operatorname{GL}_M$ , there are exactly two distinct principal isomorphisms between the two prolongations (this is a consequence of the morphism  $\rho_n$  being a central extension of  $\operatorname{GL}_n$  by  $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ ). It follows that there is another unitary operator  $U^-: \mathscr{H}_{\sigma,g} \to \mathscr{H}_{\sigma',g}$ , given by  $U\psi = \psi \circ m_g^-$  where  $m_g^- u = (mu)(-1)$  with  $\{\pm 1\} = \ker \rho_n \subset Z(\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_n^+)$ . Clearly, once the existence of an isomorphism  $\mathscr{H}_{\sigma,g} \to \mathscr{H}_{\sigma',g}$  has been established, any other isomorphism can be obtained by composing with a suitable automorphism of  $\mathscr{H}_{\sigma,g}$ . However, the operators U and  $U^-$  are the only two arising from principal morphisms as indicated above.

#### **3.4** DIFFEOMORPHISMS AND SPIN STRUCTURES

We now study the interplay between orientation-preserving diffeomorphisms of M and spin structures on M. Given a spin manifold  $(M, \sigma)$  where  $\sigma = (\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}^+(M), \eta)$ , let us choose an orientation-preserving diffeomorphism  $f: M \to M$  and consider the natural lift of f to  $\operatorname{GL}^+(M)$  given by applying the tangent map of f to each element of each frame  $e \in \operatorname{GL}^+(M)$ . We denote such a lift by the symbol Tf. The pullback bundle  $Tf^*\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}^+(M)$ , defined explicitly by  $Tf^*\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}^+(M) = \{(e, u) \in \operatorname{GL}^+(M) \times \widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}^+(M) \mid Tf(e) = \eta(u)\}$ , together with the canonical map  $Tf^*\eta: Tf^*\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}^+(M) \to \operatorname{GL}^+(M)$  given by  $(Tf^*\eta)(e, u) = e$  is again a spin structure on M which we call  $f^*\sigma$ . By construction the map  $Tf: \operatorname{GL}^+(M) \to \operatorname{GL}^+(M)$  admits exactly two distinct lifts, given by  $\varphi^{\pm}(e, u) = u(\pm 1)$  where  $\{\pm 1\} = \ker \rho_n \subset Z(\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}^+_n)$ . The following diagram illustrates the situation.

Recall that the set  $\Sigma_M$  of equivalence classes of spin structures on M is naturally an affine space over the  $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ -vector space  $H^1(M; \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$ . The assignment  $\mathrm{Diff}^+(M) \times \Sigma_M \to \Sigma_M$  given by  $(f, [\sigma]) \mapsto [f^*\sigma]$  defines an affine representation  $\rho$  of  $\mathrm{Diff}^+(M)$  on  $\Sigma_M$  (see [15] for a proof). Moreover, the normal subgroup  $\mathrm{Diff}^+_0(M) \subset \mathrm{Diff}^+(M)$  of diffeomorphisms which are homotopy equivalent to the identity acts trivially on  $\Sigma_M$ , hence  $\rho$  descends to a representation of  $\Omega(M) = \mathrm{Diff}^+(M) / \mathrm{Diff}^+_0(M)$  on  $\Sigma_M$ .

#### **3.5** DIFFEOMORPHISMS AND SPINORS

This section explores the relation between diffeomorphisms of M and the system of spaces  $\mathscr{H}_{\sigma,g}$ . Let us start with a spin structure  $\sigma = (\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}^+(M), \eta)$  of M and a metric g on M. Given an orientation-preserving diffeomorphism  $f \in \operatorname{Diff}^+(M)$  we can consider the pullback metric  $f^*g$  on M defined by  $(f^*g)(v, w) = g(Tfv, Tfw)$ . The map  $Tf: \operatorname{GL}^+(M) \to \operatorname{GL}^+(M)$  restricts to a lift

$$Tf_g: SO_{f^*g}(M) \to SO_g(M)$$

by construction. The pullback spin structure  $f^*\sigma$  restricts to a  $\text{Spin}_n$ -prolongation of  $\text{SO}_{f^*g}(M)$  by considering  $(Tf^*\eta)^{-1}(\text{SO}_{f^*g}(M))$  with  $\text{Spin}_n$ -action obtained by restricting the  $\widetilde{\text{GL}}_n^+$ -action on  $Tf^*\widetilde{\text{GL}}_M^+$  to the subbundle

$$(Tf^*\eta)^{-1}(SO_{f^*g}(M)).$$

There are exactly two lifts  $\varphi_g^{\pm}$ :  $(Tf^*\eta)^{-1}(SO_{f^*g}(M)) \to \eta^{-1}(SO_g(M))$ , given by restriction of  $\varphi^{\pm}$ . The following diagram illustrates the situation.

The next definition and proposition generalize the analysis in Section 3.3 to the case of changing the metric from g to  $f^*g$ .

**Definition 3.8.** For each of the two lifts  $\varphi^{\pm}$  of Tf we define a linear operator  $U_{\varphi^{\pm}} \colon \mathscr{H}_{\sigma,g} \to \mathscr{H}_{f^*\sigma,f^*g}$  by

$$U_{\varphi^{\pm}}\psi = \psi \circ \varphi_{f^*g}^{\pm} \tag{3.1}$$

where  $\varphi_{f^*g}^{\pm} = \varphi^{\pm} \upharpoonright (Tf^*\eta)^{-1}(\mathrm{SO}_{f^*g}(M)).$ 

**Proposition 3.9.** The operators  $U_{\varphi^{\pm}}$  defined above are unitary, that is they are invertible and satisfy  $\langle U_{\varphi^{\pm}}\psi | U_{\varphi^{\pm}}\phi \rangle_{f^*\sigma,f^*g} = \langle \psi | \phi \rangle_{\sigma,g}$  for each  $\psi, \phi \in \mathscr{H}_{\sigma,g}$ .

*Proof.* Linearity is clear. The inverse is given by  $\psi \mapsto \psi \circ (\varphi_{f^*g}^{\pm})^{-1}$ . For the second part: let us consider  $\varphi_{f^*g}^+$ , the case  $\varphi_{f^*g}^-$  being analogous. Put  $\psi' := \psi \circ \varphi_{f^*g}^+$ ,  $\phi' := \phi \circ \varphi_{f^*g}^+$ . An easy computation shows that  $a_{\psi',\phi'} = a_{\psi,\phi} \circ f$ . Now apply the formula for the invariance of integrals under pullback:

$$\langle U_{\varphi^{+}}\psi \mid U_{\varphi^{+}}\phi \rangle_{f^{*}\sigma,f^{*}g} = \int_{M} a_{\psi',\phi'} e^{\prime 1} \wedge \dots \wedge e^{\prime n}$$

$$= \int_{M} (a_{\psi,\phi} \circ f) e^{\prime 1} \wedge \dots \wedge e^{\prime n}$$

$$= \int_{M} f^{*} \left(a_{\psi,\phi} e^{1} \wedge \dots \wedge e^{n}\right)$$

$$= \int_{M} a_{\psi,\phi} e^{1} \wedge \dots \wedge e^{n}$$

$$= \langle \psi \mid \phi \rangle_{\sigma,g}$$

$$(3.2)$$

where we used local sections  $e': U_{\alpha} \to SO_{f^*g}(M)(U_{\alpha})$  and e := Tfe'.

A remark similar to 3.7 holds here as well. In other words, the operators  $U_{\varphi^{\pm}}$  are the only two unitary operators  $\mathscr{H}_{\sigma,g} \to \mathscr{H}_{f^*\sigma,f^*g}$  which arise from some principal morphism as above.

The above results permit to introduce a certain covering of the group of diffeomorphisms. We restrict to the case of oriented diffeomorphisms preserving a given spin structure.

**Definition 3.10.** Let  $\operatorname{Diff}_{\sigma}^{+}(M)$  be the subgroup of  $\operatorname{Diff}^{+}(M)$  consisting of diffeomorphisms which preserve the spin structure  $\sigma = (\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}^{+}(M), \eta)$ . Define the group  $\widetilde{\operatorname{Diff}}_{\sigma}^{+}(M)$  to consist of all principal  $\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_{n}^{+}$ -morphisms  $\varphi : \widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}^{+}(M) \to \widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}^{+}(M)$  closing the diagram:



where f runs over  $\text{Diff}^+_{\sigma}(M)$ , together with the multiplication given by composition of maps.

It is clear that  $\widetilde{\text{Diff}}_{\sigma}^{+}(M)$  is a double cover of  $\text{Diff}_{\sigma}^{+}(M)$  by the map  $\pi_{\sigma}(\varphi) = f$ . The corresponding operators  $U_{\varphi^{\pm}}$  given by (3.1) implement – in a generalized sense – the action on spinor fields of the double cover  $\widetilde{\text{Diff}}_{\sigma}^{+}(M)$  of oriented, spin structure preserving diffeomorphisms. This is however not an implementation in the strict sense, as we have not really an action on a fixed space of spinors but rather the target space of spinors changes according to the pull back action of f on the metric.

In order to get of a genuine action one should develop further our setting. A possible way could be to consider the disjoint union  $\mathscr{C}_{\sigma} = \coprod_{g} \mathscr{H}_{\sigma,g}$  where *g* runs over all Riemannian metrics on *M*. The (right) action is then given by:

$$\mathscr{C}_{\sigma} \times \widetilde{\mathrm{Diff}}_{\sigma}^{+}(M) \to \mathscr{C}_{\sigma}, \, (\psi, \varphi) \mapsto \psi \cdot \varphi := \psi \circ \varphi_{f^{*}g}$$
(3.3)

where  $\psi \in \mathscr{H}_{\sigma,g}$ ,  $f = \pi_{\sigma}(\varphi)$  and  $\varphi_{f^*g} = \varphi \upharpoonright \eta^{-1}(\mathrm{SO}_{f^*g}(M))$ .

**Remark 3.11.** By Proposition 3.9, this action is 'fiberwise unitary' in the sense that it is linear on each component  $\mathscr{H}_{\sigma,g}$ , it is invertible and  $\langle \psi \cdot \varphi | \chi \cdot \varphi \rangle_{\sigma,f^*g} = \langle \psi | \chi \rangle_{\sigma,g}$  for each  $\psi, \chi \in \mathscr{H}_{\sigma,g}$ .

In order to speak of a unitary action of  $\widetilde{\text{Diff}}_{\sigma}^{+}(M)$  one should put a Hilbert space structure on  $\mathscr{C}_{\sigma}$ . It would be natural to view  $\mathscr{C}_{\sigma}$  as a direct integral of Hilbert spaces over the space Met(M) of Riemannian metrics on M. We hope it can be made rigorous using the following facts. First, Met(M) is a positive convex cone into the vector space of smooth symmetric (0, 2)-tensors on M. The latter is naturally a Fréchet space by equipping it with the smooth topology. The space Met(M) is open in that space, hence it inherits the structure of a Fréchet manifold. The tangent space of Met(M) at some  $g \in \text{Met}(M)$  can be identified with the vector space of smooth symmetric (0, 2)-tensors on M. A Riemannian metric  $\mu$  can be put on Met(M) which is invariant under the action of diffeomorphisms of M by pullback,  $g \mapsto f^*g$ . Given  $\varphi \in \widetilde{\text{Diff}}_{\sigma}^{+}(M)$ , we could then define for each  $\psi \in \int_{\text{Met}(M)}^{\oplus} \mathscr{H}_{\sigma,g} d\mu$  the element  $(\mathfrak{U}_{\varphi}\psi)(g) =$  $U_{\varphi}\psi(\pi_{\sigma}(\varphi^{-1})^*g)$ , where we denote by  $d\mu$  the induced invariant measure on Met(M). The assignment  $\varphi \mapsto \mathfrak{U}_{\varphi}$  would then be a unitary action of  $\widetilde{\text{Diff}}_{\sigma}^{+}(M)$ on the space of spinors with spin structure  $\sigma$ .

#### **3.6** Equivariance of the Dirac operator

In order to define the Dirac operator one uses the lift of the covariant derivative associated to the Levi-Civita (metric preserving and torsion free) connection. Its local components with respect to an orthonormal frame e are given explicitly by the Christoffel symbols

$$\Gamma_{jkl}^{(e(x))} = c_{jkl} + c_{jlk} + c_{lkj} \tag{3.4}$$

where  $c_{ijk}$  are the structure constants of the commutators (as vector fields)

$$[e_i, e_j] = c_{ijk} e_k$$

Then for a given  $\sigma$  and g on M the Dirac operator D is defined by its local components, i.e. its action in the 'gauge'  $\tilde{e}$  on the local components  $\psi \circ \tilde{e}$  of  $\psi \in S_{\sigma,g}$  as

$$(D\psi)(\tilde{e}(x)) := \sum_{j} \gamma_{j} \left( \mathscr{L}_{e_{j}(x)} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k\ell} \gamma_{k} \gamma_{\ell} \Gamma_{jkl}^{(e(x))} \right) \psi(\tilde{e}(x)),$$

where  $\gamma_j$  are the anticommuting gamma matrices and  $e = \eta \circ \tilde{e}$ . As it should, up to a unitary equivalence the Dirac operator is independent on the choice of a representation of the gamma matrices and of local orthonormal frames.

Proposition 3.12. The Dirac operator is equivariant, i.e.

$$D'U_f^{\pm} = U_f^{\pm}D$$
, (3.5)

where D' is the Dirac operator on  $\mathscr{H}_{f^*\sigma, f^*g}$ .

Denoting  $\psi' := U_f^{\pm} \psi$  we can write (3.5) in the equivalent form as

$$D'\psi' = (D\psi)' \tag{3.6}$$

*Proof.* It is a matter of a straightforward check that (3.6) is satisfied. For that evaluate both sides on  $\tilde{e}'(x)$  using the fact that  $\mathcal{L}_{e'_j}(\psi \circ f)(x) = \mathcal{L}_{e_j}\psi(f(x))$ , that the local Christoffel symbols in any orthonormal frame are given in terms of commutators of the vectors constituting the frame and the commutators of *f*-related frames are *f*-related, and the equality of local components  $\psi'(\tilde{e}'(x)) = \psi(\tilde{e}(f(x)))$ .

From the formula (3.6), which is already present (modulo a typo) in [12] (p.101 at the bottom), follows that the eigenvalues (point spectrum) of the Dirac operator are invariant under diffeomorphisms. Now using also Proposition (3.9) we can state a stronger result:

**Corollary 3.13.** The spectrum of the Dirac operator is invariant under the diffeomorphisms.

#### 3.7 BRIEF ACCOUNT OF SOME OTHER APPROACHES

The relations between spinors, the Dirac equation and the metric has been investigated by other authors (for the case of a fixed metric we mention the beautiful and classical paper [37]). Now, recall that for any two Riemannian metrics  $g_1$  and  $g_2$  on M we have the geometrically constructed principal based-isomorphism  $m_{g_1,g_2}$ :  $SO_{g_1}(M) \rightarrow SO_{g_2}(M)$  (see Chapter 2). A lift of this isomorphism to respective spin bundles makes possible to compare spinors and the Dirac equation for different metrics. However, the two spin structures are necessarily equivalent.

The paper [3] combines ideas in [1] and [15] to construct a "metric" Lie derivative of spinor fields (see also the fundamental paper [35] for an early study of a Lie derivative for spinors). As in [15], the metrics considered are g and  $f^*g$ . The isomorphism  $m_{g,f^*g}$  is used to project the tangent map of a diffeomorphism  $f: M \to M$  onto the same principal bundle  $SO_g(M)$ ; an analogous isomorphism between the two principal  $Spin_n$ -bundles associated to g and  $f^*g$  is used to project the lift of f, thus realising an automorphism of the same  $Spin_n$ -bundle over f. This permits to define a Lie derivative of spinor fields, which however does not induce the canonical Lie derivative on tensor fields build from spinor fields. Its geometric nature has been clarified in [24]. The procedure above works however only for strictly Riemannian metrics and spin-structure-preserving diffeomorphisms.

It is worth to mention that the canonical Dirac operator on Dirac spinor fields provides a prominent example of a spectral triple, and of a noncommutative Riemannian spin manifold in the framework of noncommutative geometry of Connes [9]. The results of this chapter fit well into this scheme and can be interpreted as a unitary implementation of diffeomorphisms on spectral triples. Concerning the additional requirements (axioms) for noncommutative Riemannian spin manifolds [10], most of them are preserved under diffeomorphisms in a straightforward manner. Only the axiom of projectivity and absolute continuity requires a comment. Namely it is easy to check that the  $C^{\infty}(M)$ -modules of smooth spinor fields, equipped with the  $C^{\infty}(M)$ - valued hermitian form, are intertwined by the action of diffeomorphisms, i.e

$$(a\psi)\circ \tilde{f}_{\pm} = (f^*a)(\psi\circ \tilde{f}_{\pm})$$

#### 3.8 FINAL REMARKS

In this chapter we have further developed the approach of [15] and [12] to give a consistent definition of the transformation rules for spinor fields under (the double cover of) diffeomorphisms and checked the covariance of the Dirac operator. This requires however, as mentioned in the introduction, the changing of the space of spinors according to the pull back action on metrics and on spin structures labelling the spaces of spinors. In particular we are able to give the components of the transformed spinor field with respect to the transformed (spinor) linear frame, orthonormal with respect to the different (pullback) metric. It should be stressed however that we cannot compare the components of a given one and the same spinor field with respect to two linear frames if they are not related by a orthonormal transformation (giving a proper scaling dimension we could treat however conformally related metrics).

Since we have not employed an isomorphism between Hilbert spaces associated to different Riemannian metrics, we can not discuss in general the behaviour of spinors under infinitesimal diffeomorphisms and the notion of the Lie derivative on spinor fields along vector fields (unless they are Killing vector fields).

Moreover, for simplicity we considered only the oriented diffeomorphisms, the orientation changing diffeomorphisms in general would require the coverings  $Pin^{\pm}$  of the full orthogonal group. Some parts of our results hold as well in the Lorenzian or pseudoriemannian case. The isomorphism  $\varphi$  should also play an important role for a rigorous discussion of the variational aspects of the theory (under a general variation of the metric), and thus for deriving the equation of motions.

### NONCOMMUTATIVE PART

# 4 PRODUCT OF REAL SPECTRAL TRIPLES

#### 4.1 Commutative real spectral triple

In the following, the symbol  $\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$  will denote the set of strictly positive integers and the symbol  $\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  will denote the set of non-negative integers.

#### GAMMA MATRICES

For each  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$  consider the irreducible (complex) representations of the (complex) Clifford algebra  $\mathscr{C}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  of Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with negative-definite metric. For even (resp. odd) n, let us denote by  $\Gamma_{(n)}$  (resp.  $\Gamma_{(n,+)}$  and  $\Gamma_{(n,-)}$ ) a possible choice of sets of complex matrices generating the only irreducible representation (respectively the only two irreducible representations) of  $\mathscr{C}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , given by:

$$\Gamma_{(1,+)} = \{\gamma_{(1,+)}^{1}\}$$

$$\Gamma_{(1,-)} = \{\gamma_{(1,-)}^{1}\}$$

$$\Gamma_{(2m)} = \{\gamma_{(2m)}^{1}, \dots, \gamma_{(2m)}^{2m}\}$$

$$\Gamma_{(2m+1,+)} = \{\gamma_{(2m+1,+)}^{1}, \dots, \gamma_{(2m+1,+)}^{2m}, \gamma_{(2m+1,+)}^{2m+1}\}$$

$$\Gamma_{(2m+1,-)} = \{\gamma_{(2m+1,-)}^{1}, \dots, \gamma_{(2m+1,-)}^{2m}, \gamma_{(2m+1,-)}^{2m+1}\},$$
(4.1)

where  $\gamma_{(1,\pm)}^1 = \pm i$  and for n = 2m ( $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$ ), j = 1, ..., m, each  $\gamma_{(n)}^{\mu}$  ( $\mu = 1, ..., n$ ) is a  $2^m \times 2^m$  complex matrix given by

$$\gamma_{(n)}^{j} = i \underbrace{\sigma_{3} \otimes \cdots \otimes \sigma_{3}}_{m-j} \otimes \sigma_{1} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbf{1}}_{j-1},$$

$$\gamma_{(n)}^{m+j} = i \underbrace{\sigma_{3} \otimes \cdots \otimes \sigma_{3}}_{m-j} \otimes \sigma_{2} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbf{1}}_{j-1},$$
(4.2)

while for n = 2m + 1 ( $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$ ),  $k = 1, \dots, n - 1$  we put

$$\gamma_{(n,\pm)}^{k} = \gamma_{(n-1)}^{k},$$
  

$$\gamma_{(n,\pm)}^{n} = \pm i \underbrace{\sigma_{3} \otimes \cdots \otimes \sigma_{3}}_{m},$$
(4.3)

where

$$\mathbf{I} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (4.4)$$

 $(\sigma_1, \sigma_2 \text{ and } \sigma_3 \text{ are the so called Pauli matrices})$ . Indeed, the gamma matrices defined above anti-commute with each other and square to -1. Note that they are anti-hermitean. Moreover we have chosen them so that for a given n the first m are imaginary, the next m are real and  $\gamma_{(2m+1,\pm)}^{2m+1}$  is imaginary. The properties discussed in the sequel do not depend on this choice up to unitary equivalence of matrices.

Note also that

$$\gamma_{(2m+1,\pm)}^{2m+1} = \pm i(i)^{(m \mod 2)} \gamma_{(2m)}^1 \gamma_{(2m)}^2 \dots \gamma_{(2m)}^{2m}$$
(4.5)

For even *n* we define the grading operator  $\chi_{(n)} = \underbrace{\sigma_3 \otimes \cdots \otimes \sigma_3}_{n/2}$ . For odd *n* we define also  $\chi_{(n,\pm)} = \pm 1$ . (In the sequel we shall often omit the lower indices to simplify notation). Note that, for any  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$ ,

$$\chi = \alpha_n \gamma^1 \cdots \gamma^n, \qquad (4.6)$$

where  $\alpha_n = 1, -i, i, 1$  if  $n = 0, 1, 2, 3 \mod 4$  respectively.

#### DIRAC OPERATOR

The (free) Dirac operator on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is given by the formula

$$D = \sum_{\mu=1}^{n} \gamma^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}}.$$
(4.7)

where the gammas are as above. Note that, for even n,

$$D\chi + \chi D = 0.$$

Note also that, for odd *n*, changing the representation  $\Gamma_{(2m+1,+)}$  to  $\Gamma_{(2m+1,-)}$  is equivalent to changing the orientation of the manifold.

The 'minimal coupling' interaction with gauge fields, notably the electromagnetic potential  $A_{\mu}$ , amounts to the substitution of the usual derivatives by the covariant ones,

$$\nabla_{\mu} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} + i e A_{\mu},$$

where *e* is the charge.

As well known, the Dirac operator can be defined for a flat metric of arbitrary signature, and generalized to (pseudo) Riemannian spin manifolds with the help of covariant derivative given by the Levi-Civita (spin) connection. The elliptic or Riemannian case is extremely important and well studied in mathematics. In theoretical physics the Lorentzian case describes the evolution of spinor fields (fermions), and is also useful in connection with general relativity, modern versions of Kaluza-Klein theories, and (super) string theory. Recently, A. Connes made the Dirac operator a fundamental ingredient of a 'spectral triple' and of the notion of noncommutative (spin) manifold.

#### CHARGE CONJUGATION

In physics, the charge conjugation J of spinors exchanges the Dirac operators corresponding to charge e and -e, keeping invariant the other physical quantities. However, we allow a possibility that J either commutes or anticommutes with the 'neutral' D given by (4.7). We shall indicate by a subscript  $\pm$  these two options, which amount to demanding that

$$J_{\pm}\gamma^{\mu}\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} + ieA_{\mu}\right) = \pm\gamma^{\mu}\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} - ieA_{\mu}\right)J_{\pm}.$$
(4.8)

The operators  $J_{\pm}$  have to be  $\mathbb{C}$ -antilinear, given by a composition of the complex conjugation with a constant matrix  $C_{\pm}$ , satisfying  $C_{\pm}\overline{\gamma}^{\mu} = \pm \gamma^{\mu}C_{\pm}$ . Hence,  $C_{+}$  should anti-commute with  $\gamma^{\mu}$  for  $\mu \leq m$  which are imaginary and commute with  $\gamma^{\mu}$  for  $m < \mu \leq 2m$  which are real. By the uniqueness and anti-commutativity of gamma matrices, such  $C_{+}$  is proportional to  $\gamma^{1}\gamma^{2}\cdots\gamma^{m}$  if m is even and to  $\gamma^{m+1}\gamma^{m+2}\cdots\gamma^{2m}$  if m is odd. It is just the other way for  $C_{-}$ .

For  $\Gamma_{(2m)}$ , this fixes the two solutions  $J_{\pm}$  (up to a scalar multiple). Moreover,  $J_{-}$  is obtained by multiplying  $J_{+}$  with  $\gamma^{1} \cdots \gamma^{2m}$  (up to a scalar multiple).

For  $\Gamma_{(2m+1,+)}$  and for  $\Gamma_{(2m+1,-)}$  we have to consider in addition the matrix  $\gamma_{(2m+1,\pm)}^{2m+1}$ , which is imaginary. Then the above (anti)-commutativity requirement selects  $J_+$  as the only solution if  $m = 1, 3 \mod 4$  (i.e.  $n = 3, 7 \mod 8$ ) and  $J_-$  if  $m = 0, 2 \mod 4$  (i.e.  $n = 1, 5 \mod 8$ ).

It can be checked that, with respect to the standard Hermitean scalar product < , > on  $\mathbb{C}^{2^m}$ , the charge conjugation is a  $\mathbb{C}$ -antilinear isometry, that is  $JJ^{\dagger} = 1 = J^{\dagger}J$ , where the adjoint of a  $\mathbb{C}$ -antilinear operator is defined by  $\langle \phi, J^{\dagger}\psi \rangle = \langle \psi, J\phi \rangle$ . This reduces the ambiguity of  $J_{\pm}$  to be a scalar of modulus 1.

The commutation relation of  $J_{\pm}$  with D is by construction  $DJ_{\pm} = \varepsilon' J_{\pm}D$ , with  $\varepsilon' = +1$  for  $J_{+}$  and  $\varepsilon' = -1$  for  $J_{-}$ . Next, the commutation relation with  $\chi$ (if n is even) is governed by  $\varepsilon'' = i^n = (-1)^{n/2}$ . A straightforward computation gives  $(J_{\pm})^2 = \varepsilon \mathbf{1}$ , where  $\varepsilon$  (together with  $\varepsilon', \varepsilon''$ ) is given by table 4.1 below.

n	0	2	4	6	0	2	4	6	1	3	5	7
$\epsilon$	+	—	—	+	+	+	-	—	+	—	—	+
$\epsilon'$	+	+	+	+	-	_	-	-	-	+	-	+
$\epsilon''$	+	-	+	-	+	-	+	-				
	•	٠	•	•					•	٠	•	•

Table 4.1: Connes' selection in [11] is marked by •

Notice that altogether there are twelve different possibilities, which can be labeled by the so-called KO-dimension  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_8$  with the additional index  $\epsilon'$  if n

is even (so for example the case  $(\epsilon, \epsilon', \epsilon'') = (+, -, -)$  is labelled by 2\_). We find it notationally convenient to place this additional index also in the case of odd n, though it is redundant there. (For pseudoeuclidean spaces the periodicity modulo 8 holds for the signature p - q of the metric).

The geometrical significance of the charge conjugation  $J_{\pm}$  is that it governs the reduction of a spin<sup>*c*</sup> structure to a spin structure (the Lie algebra spin(n)is generated by  $\gamma_{\mu}\gamma_{\nu}$  with  $\mu < \nu$ , which commute with J and so are invariant under  $Ad_J$ , while  $spin^c(n)$  is generated by spin(n) and one more matrix  $i\mathbf{1}$ , which anti-commutes with J).

The operator in (4.7) is a first-order partial differential operator with matrix coefficients. It acts on  $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^{2^m})$ . After completion to  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^{2^m})$ , D becomes an unbounded self-adjoint operator. The \*-algebra of smooth complexvalued functions on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  (with pointwise operations) is represented on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^{2^m})$ as multiplication operators.

#### DIRAC OPERATOR ON CARTESIAN PRODUCT

Let  $n = n_1 + n_2$  with  $n_1, n_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$ . It is straightforward to see that the Dirac operator (4.7) on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  decomposes (up to unitary equivalences of matrices and a suitable renaming of coordinates) into Dirac operators  $D_1$  on  $\mathbb{R}^{n_1}$  and  $D_2$  on  $\mathbb{R}^{n_2}$  as follows (1 and  $\chi$  denote the relevant identity and grading matrices):

• if  $n_1 = 2m_1$  and  $n_2 = 2m_2 + 1$   $(m_1 \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}, m_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0})$ 

$$D = \sum_{\mu=1}^{n_1} \gamma^{\mu}_{(n_1)} \otimes \mathbf{1} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} + \sum_{\nu=1}^{n_2} \chi_{(n_1)} \otimes \gamma^{\nu}_{(n_2,\pm)} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{n_1+\nu}}, \qquad (4.9)$$

(using (4.5) it is not difficult to see that the tensor product gamma matrices appearing in (4.9) belong to the representation  $\Gamma_{(2m_1+2m_2+1,\pm)}$ , with the index  $\pm$  identical to the one of  $\gamma_{(n_2,\pm)}^{\nu}$ , belonging to  $\Gamma_{(2m_2+1,\pm)}$ ; in other words, the  $\pm$ -type of the irreducible representation is preserved);

• if  $n_1 = 2m_1 + 1$  and  $n_2 = 2m_2$   $(m_1 \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}, m_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1})$ 

$$D = \sum_{\mu=1}^{n_1} \gamma^{\mu}_{(n_1,\pm)} \otimes \chi_{(n_2)} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{n_2+\mu}} + \sum_{\nu=1}^{n_2} \mathbf{1} \otimes \gamma^{\nu}_{(n_2)} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}}, \qquad (4.10)$$

(again the  $\pm$ -type of the irreducible representation is preserved);

- if both  $n_1 = 2m_1$  and  $n_2 = 2m_2$   $(m_1, m_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1})$  are even, both formulae 4.9 and 4.10 hold and are related by a unitary matrix;
- if both  $n_1 = 2m_1 + 1$  and  $n_2 = 2m_2 + 1$  ( $m_1, m_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ ) are odd then

$$D = \sum_{\mu=1}^{n_1} \gamma_{(n_1)}^{\mu} \otimes \mathbf{1} \otimes \sigma_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} + \sum_{\nu=1}^{n_2} \mathbf{1} \otimes \gamma_{(n_2)}^{\nu} \otimes \sigma_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{n_1+\nu}}.$$
 (4.11)

Moreover, we can take  $\chi = 1 \otimes 1 \otimes \sigma_3$  as grading.

#### 4.2 DEFINITION OF A REAL SPECTRAL TRIPLE

The classical setting presented in section 4.1 was generalized by Connes to the noncommutative case, which we now recall and supplement by keeping all the twelve possibilities for the reality structure. We recall from [11]

**Definition 4.1.** A spectral triple  $(A, \mathcal{H}, D)$  is given by an involutive unital algebra A (over  $\mathbb{R}$  or  $\mathbb{C}$ ) faithfully represented as bounded operators on a complex separable Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  and by a self-adjoint operator D with compact resolvent such that for each  $a \in A$  the commutator<sup>1</sup> [D, a] has bounded extension.

A spectral triple is called even if the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  is endowed with a nontrivial  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -grading  $\chi$  which<sup>2</sup> commutes with any  $a \in A$  and anticommutes with *D*. Otherwise it is called odd.

The following definition is a modification of Definition 1.124 in [11] in order to cover all the twelve possibilities as discussed in the previous section.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We assume  $a \operatorname{dom} D \subset \operatorname{dom} D$  for each  $a \in A$ , so that [D, a] is defined on dom D.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>By definition  $\chi$  is a self-adjoint unitary such that  $\chi^2 = id_{\mathscr{H}}$  and  $\chi \neq \pm id_{\mathscr{H}}$ . The Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H}$  can then be split into its eigenspaces  $\mathscr{H} = \mathscr{H}_+ \oplus \mathscr{H}_-$ ; by requesting  $[\chi, a] = 0$  for each  $a \in A$  this splitting is invariant under the action of A on  $\mathscr{H}$ .

**Definition 4.2.** A real structure of *KO*-dimension  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_8$  on a spectral triple  $(A, \mathcal{H}, D)$  is an antilinear isometry  $J : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$ , with the property that

$$J^2 = \epsilon$$
,  $JD = \epsilon'DJ$ , and, if  $(A, \mathcal{H}, D)$  is even,  $J\chi = \epsilon''\chi J$ . (4.12)

Given *n*, the possibilities for arrays of numbers  $\epsilon, \epsilon', \epsilon'' \in \{\pm 1\}$  are given by the tables in section 4.1. Moreover, the action of *A* satisfies the commutation rule

$$[a, Jb^* J^{-1}] = 0, \quad \forall a, b \in A \tag{4.13}$$

and the operator D satisfies the order one condition

$$[[D, a], Jb^*J^{-1}] = 0, \quad \forall a, b \in A.$$
(4.14)

A spectral triple  $(A, \mathcal{H}, D)$  endowed with a real structure *J* is called a real spectral triple.

#### Remarks.

- usually we will omit to indicate the \*-representation map  $\rho: A \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  for simplicity;
- we recall that an antiunitary operator *J* is antilinear, bijective and (Ju|Jv) = (v|u);
- the map b → Jb\*J<sup>-1</sup> is a representation of the opposite algebra A° on B(H);
- equation (4.13) which says that Ad<sub>J</sub> sends *A* to its commutant is sometimes called the "zero order condition";
- note that putting:

$$\vec{\epsilon}_{\pm}(n) = \left(\epsilon_{\pm}(n), \epsilon_{\pm}'(n), \epsilon_{\pm}''(n)\right), \qquad (4.15)$$

(where  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_8$ ) we have the relation:

$$\vec{e}_{-}(n) = -\vec{e}_{+}(n+2).$$
 (4.16)

#### 4.3 **PRODUCT OF REAL SPECTRAL TRIPLES**

Following what happens in the commutative case, we shall produce a real spectral triple of dimension  $n_1 + n_2$  out of two triples of dimensions  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  respectively. The new algebra is the tensor product algebra  $A = A_1 \otimes A_2$ , where  $\otimes$  is the algebraic tensor product<sup>3</sup> and the involution is defined componentwise:  $(a \otimes b)^* = a^* \otimes b^*$ . It turns out that the other ingredients of the resulting spectral triple depend on the parity of the two given triples.

#### EVEN-EVEN CASE

As the Hilbert space carrying the \*-representation of *A* we take the Hilbert tensor product  $\mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2$  and as the \*-representation we take the tensor product representation:

$$\rho_1 \otimes \rho_2 \colon A_1 \otimes A_2 \to \mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H}_1 \otimes \mathscr{H}_2). \tag{4.17}$$

The representation  $\rho_1 \otimes \rho_2$  is faithful whenever  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  are. The grading operator is given by  $\chi = \chi_1 \otimes \chi_2$  (it is easy to check that it is unitary, squares to  $id_{\mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2}$  and commutes with every element of the product algebra *A*). As for the Dirac operator, using  $\chi_1$  or  $\chi_2$  we take the following operators <sup>4</sup>:

$$\mathcal{D} = D_1 \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{H}_2} + \chi_1 \otimes D_2,$$
  

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{D}} = D_1 \otimes \chi_2 + \mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{H}_1} \otimes D_2,$$
(4.18)

both defined on the dense domain  $dom D_1 \otimes dom D_2$ . They are unitarily equivalent:

$$\widetilde{\mathscr{D}} = U \mathscr{D} U^{\dagger}, \qquad (4.19)$$

where (see [54])

$$U = \frac{1}{2} (\operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{H}_1} \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{H}_2} + \chi_1 \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{H}_2} + \operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{H}_1} \otimes \chi_2 - \chi_1 \otimes \chi_2).$$
(4.20)

We now show that  $\mathcal{D}$  is essentially self-adjoint by exhibiting an orthonormal basis of eigenvectors. Self-adjointness is immediate if one Hilbert space is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Over  $\mathbb{R}$  if at least one of the two algebras is real, over  $\mathbb{C}$  if both algebras are complex.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The simplest choice  $D = D_1 \otimes id_{\mathcal{H}_2} + id_{\mathcal{H}_1} \otimes D_2$  has non-compact resolvent in general (e.g. ker *D* is infinite dimensional if  $D_2 = -D_1$  with  $\mathcal{H}_1 = \mathcal{H}_2$  infinite dimensional).

finite dimensional, so we assume both Hilbert spaces to be infinite dimensional.

From the general theory of (linear unbounded) operators on a complex separable Hilbert space we know that each  $D_i$  has pure point spectrum consisting of countably many real eigenvalues, each with finite multiplicity, and the only limit point of their absolute values is  $+\infty$ . Let

$$\{v_{\lambda,m_{\lambda}}, v_{j_{\pm}} \mid \lambda \in \sigma(D_1)/\{0\}, m_{\lambda} = 1, \dots, M_{\lambda}, j_{\pm} = 1, \dots, K_{\pm} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}\}$$

be an orthonormal basis of eigenvectors of  $D_1$ , where  $\sigma(D_1)$  is the spectrum of  $D_1$ ,  $M_\lambda$  is the multiplicity of  $\lambda \in \sigma(D_1)/\{0\}$ , and finally  $\{v_{j_{\pm}} | j_{\pm} = 1, ..., K_{\pm}\}$  is a basis of ker  $D_1$  consisting of eigenvectors of  $\chi_1$  such that  $\chi_1 v_{j_{\pm}} = \pm v_{j_{\pm}}$ . Note that since  $D_1$  and  $\chi_1$  anticommute, and  $\chi_1$  is unitary, then  $\sigma(D_1)$  is symmetric and  $M_\lambda = M_{-\lambda}$ . Let  $\{w_{\mu,n_{\mu}} | \mu \in \sigma(D_2), n_{\mu} = 1, ..., N_{\mu} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}\}$  be an orthonormal basis of eigenvectors of  $D_2$ . Finally, let us consider the following vectors in  $\mathscr{H}_1 \otimes \mathscr{H}_2$ :

$$u_{\lambda,m_{\lambda},\mu,n_{\mu}}^{+} = \cos \theta_{\lambda\mu} (v_{\lambda,m_{\lambda}} \otimes w_{\mu,n_{\mu}}) + \sin \theta_{\lambda\mu} (\chi_{1} v_{\lambda,m_{\lambda}} \otimes w_{\mu,n_{\mu}}) ,$$
  

$$u_{\lambda,m_{\lambda},\mu,n_{\mu}}^{-} = -\sin \theta_{\lambda\mu} (v_{\lambda,m_{\lambda}} \otimes w_{\mu,n_{\mu}}) + \cos \theta_{\lambda\mu} (\chi_{1} v_{\lambda,m_{\lambda}} \otimes w_{\mu,n_{\mu}}) , \qquad (4.21)$$
  

$$u_{j_{\pm},\mu,n_{\mu}} = v_{j_{\pm}} \otimes w_{\mu,n_{\mu}} ,$$

where  $\lambda \in \sigma(D_1) \cap \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ ,  $\mu \in \sigma(D_2)$ ,  $\theta_{\lambda\mu} = \frac{1}{2} \arctan \frac{\mu}{\lambda} \in (-\pi/4, \pi/4)$  and  $j_{\pm} = 1, \dots, K_{\pm}$ . Then the set

$$\{u_{\lambda,m_{\lambda},\mu,n_{\mu}}^{+}, u_{\lambda,m_{\lambda},\mu,n_{\mu}}^{-}, u_{j_{\pm},\mu,n_{\mu}} \mid \lambda \in \sigma(D_{1}) \cap \mathbb{R}_{>0}, \mu \in \sigma(D_{2}), j_{\pm} = 1, \dots, K_{\pm}\}$$

$$(4.22)$$

is an orthonormal basis of eigenvectors of  $\mathcal{D}$ , with corresponding eigenvalues given by:

$$\mathcal{D}(u_{\lambda,m_{\lambda},\mu,n_{\mu}}^{\pm}) = \pm \sqrt{\lambda^{2} + \mu^{2}} u_{\lambda,m_{\lambda},\mu,n_{\mu}}^{\pm},$$
  
$$\mathcal{D}(u_{j_{\pm},\mu,n_{\mu}}) = \pm \mu u_{j_{\pm},\mu,n_{\mu}}.$$
(4.23)

It can be easily seen that ker  $\mathcal{D} = \ker D_1 \otimes \ker D_2$ . From the existence of a basis of eigenvectors for  $\mathcal{D}$  we can promptly conclude that  $D \equiv \overline{\mathcal{D}}$  (the closure of  $\mathcal{D}$ ) is self-adjoint. From the analysis above it is clear that D is a self-adjoint

operator with pure point spectrum consisting of countably many eigenvalues, each with finite multiplicity, and the only limit point of their absolute values is  $+\infty$ . By the general theory, we conclude that *D* has compact resolvent.

By unitary equivalence, the basis for  $\mathscr{D}$  gives a basis of eigenvectors of  $\widetilde{\mathscr{D}}$  with the same eigenvalues and multiplicities as those of  $\mathscr{D}$ , so the analysis above goes through and we conclude that  $\widetilde{D} \equiv \overline{\widetilde{\mathscr{D}}}$  is also self-adjoint with compact resolvent.

It is easy to check that [D, a] is defined on domD and extends to a bounded operator for each  $a \in A_1 \otimes A_2$  (using the condition  $[\chi, a] = 0$ ). Analogously for  $\widetilde{D}$ .

From  $J_1$  and  $J_2$  we can construct  $J = J_1 \otimes J_2$ , which is easily seen to be antiunitary on  $\mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2$ . Moreover we have

$$[a_{1} \otimes a_{2}, J(b_{1} \otimes b_{2})^{*} J^{-1}] = [a_{1} \otimes a_{2}, (J_{1} \otimes J_{2})(b_{1}^{*} \otimes b_{2}^{*})(J_{1}^{-1} \otimes J_{2}^{-1})]$$
  
=  $[a_{1}, J_{1}b_{1}^{*} J_{1}^{-1}] \otimes a_{2} J_{2} b_{2}^{*} J_{2}^{-1} +$   
+  $J_{1}b_{1}^{*} J_{1}^{-1} a_{1} \otimes [a_{2}, J_{2}b_{2}^{*} J_{2}^{-1}]$   
=  $0.$  (4.24)

Labeling the  $\epsilon$ -triples with  $n_+$  or  $n_-$  according to the KO-dimension and the *J* involved in the product, we get the following tables for the KO-dimension and reality structure of the resulting triple (we distinguish the two cases for the total Dirac operator, *D* or  $\tilde{D}$ ):

**Remark 4.3.** The two top blocks in table 4.2 correspond to the even-even cases covered by Vanhecke's paper [54].

#### Even-odd case

The Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ , the \*-representation of A on  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  and the reality structure J are the same as in the even-even case. Now we have only one nontrivial grading operator though: we then choose D or  $\tilde{D}$  from the previous construction, according to whether the even triple is the first one or the second one, respectively. The basis of eigenvectors is again given by (4.22) (or by the analogous construction using  $\chi_2$  instead of  $\chi_1$ ). The argument for proving self-

			140					
1/2	0+	2+	4+	6+	0_	2_	4_	6_
0_+	0_+	2+	4+	6+				
2+					2+	4+	6+	0_+
4_+	4+	6+	0_+	2+				
6+					6+	0+	2+	4+
0_					0_	2_	4_	6_
2_	2_	4_	6_	0_				
4_					4_	6_	0_	2_
6_	6_	0_	2_	4_				

Table 4.2: *D* 

Table 4.3:  $\tilde{D}$ 

1/2	0+	2+	4+	6+	0_	2_	4_	6_
0+	0_+		4+			2_		6_
2+	2+		6+			4_		0_
4+	4+		0_+			6_		2_
6+	6+		2+			0_		4_
0_		2+		6+	0_		4_	
2_		4+		0_+	2_		6_	
4_		6+		2+	4_		0_	
6_		0+		4+	6_		2_	

adjointness and compactness of resolvent goes through exactly as before. For the KO-dimension and reality structure of the resulting triple we obtain the following tables:

**Remark 4.4.** Table 4.4 corresponds to the even-odd cases covered by Vanhecke's paper [54].

#### Odd-odd case

In this case we have no nontrivial grading operator available. In order to overcome this, motivated by the commutative situation, we consider the following

#### Table 4.4: *D*

1/2	1_	3+	5_	7+
0_+		3+		7+
2+	3+		7+	
4+		7+		3+
6+	7 <sub>+</sub>		3+	
0_	1_		5_	
2_		5_		1_
4_	5_		1_	
6_		1_		5_

Table 4.5:  $\widetilde{D}$ 

1/2	0_+	2+	4+	6+	0_	2_	4_	6_
1_		3+		7+	1_		5_	
3+	3+		7+			5_		1_
5_		7+		3+	5_		1_	
7+	7+		3+			1_		5_

construction:

$$A = A_1 \otimes A_2,$$
  

$$\mathcal{H} = (\mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2) \otimes \mathbb{C}^2,$$
  

$$\mathcal{D} = D_1 \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{H}_2} \otimes \sigma_1 + \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{H}_1} \otimes D_2 \otimes \sigma_2,$$
  

$$J^{\pm} = J_1 \otimes J_2 \otimes M^{\pm} K,$$
  

$$\chi = \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{H}_1} \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{H}_2} \otimes \sigma_3,$$
  
(4.25)

where the  $\sigma$ s are the Pauli matrices,  $M^{\pm}$  are two complex matrices specified by the table below and *K* is the complex conjugation operator defined for the canonical basis of  $\mathbb{C}^2$  (i.e., if  $(e_1, e_2)$  is the canonical basis, we have  $K(\lambda e_i) = \overline{\lambda} e_i$  for every  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ ). The representation is understood to be trivial on the  $\mathbb{C}^2$ factor, i.e.  $\rho(a_1 \otimes a_2) = \rho_1(a_1) \otimes \rho_2(a_2) \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{C}^2}$ .

**Remarks.** The entries in table 4.6 stand for the pair  $M^+$ ,  $M^-$ . For convenience, the identity matrix is called  $\sigma_0$ . Note that this construction still works under

1/2	1_	3+	5_	7+	
1_	$\sigma_2, \sigma_1$	$\sigma_3$ , $\sigma_0$	$\sigma_2$ , $\sigma_1$	$\sigma_3$ , $\sigma_0$	
3+	$\sigma_0,\sigma_3$	$\sigma_1$ , $\sigma_2$	$\sigma_{0}$ , $\sigma_{3}$	$\sigma_1$ , $\sigma_2$	
5_	$\sigma_2, \sigma_1$	$\sigma_3$ , $\sigma_0$	$\sigma_2$ , $\sigma_1$	$\sigma_3$ , $\sigma_0$	
7 <sub>+</sub>	$\sigma_0,\sigma_3$	$\sigma_1$ , $\sigma_2$	$\sigma_{0}$ , $\sigma_{3}$	$\sigma_1$ , $\sigma_2$	

Table 4.6: Odd-odd case

any permutation of the Pauli matrices (e.g., one can take  $\mathcal{D} = D_1 \otimes id_{\mathcal{H}_2} \otimes \sigma_1 + id_{\mathcal{H}_1} \otimes D_2 \otimes \sigma_3$  and  $\chi = id_{\mathcal{H}_1} \otimes id_{\mathcal{H}_2} \otimes \sigma_2$ ). The table obtained considering only the first element in each entry (i.e.  $M^+$ ) corresponds to the odd-odd cases covered by Sitarz's notes [46].

Calling  $n_1 = 2m_1 + 1$  and  $n_2 = 2m_2 + 1$  the dimensions of the two triples involved, we have:

$$M^{+}(n_{1}, n_{2}) = \sigma_{j}, \quad j = \frac{1}{2} \left( 5 + (-1)^{m_{2}+1} \right) + 2m_{1} \mod 4,$$
  

$$M^{-}(n_{1}, n_{2}) = \sigma_{k}, \quad k = \frac{1}{2} (1 + (-1)^{m_{2}}) + 2m_{1} \mod 4.$$
(4.26)

Self-adjointness of  $D \equiv \overline{\mathcal{D}}$  and compactness of its resolvent can be proven by the same argument of section 4.3 with suitable changes. In particular the eigenvectors  $u^{\pm}$  are given by:

$$u_{\lambda,m_{\lambda},\mu,n_{\mu}}^{+} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\cos\theta_{\lambda\mu}v_{\lambda,m_{\lambda}}\otimes w_{\mu,n_{\mu}}\otimes\begin{pmatrix}1\\1\end{pmatrix} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sin\theta_{\lambda\mu}v_{\lambda,m_{\lambda}}\otimes w_{\mu,n_{\mu}}\otimes\begin{pmatrix}-i\\i\end{pmatrix},$$
$$u_{\lambda,m_{\lambda},\mu,n_{\mu}}^{-} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sin\theta_{\lambda\mu}v_{\lambda,m_{\lambda}}\otimes w_{\mu,n_{\mu}}\otimes\begin{pmatrix}1\\1\end{pmatrix} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\cos\theta_{\lambda\mu}v_{\lambda,m_{\lambda}}\otimes w_{\mu,n_{\mu}}\otimes\begin{pmatrix}-i\\i\end{pmatrix}$$
(4.27)

## 4.4 FURTHER PROPERTIES AND THEIR PRESERVATION UNDER PRODUCTS

We list here several additional axioms for a real spectral triple  $(A, \mathcal{H}, D, J)$  introduced by Connes. See [26].

- Dimension. There is a positive integer *n* such that |D|<sup>-n</sup> is infinitesimal of order 1, where |D|<sup>-1</sup> is the resolvent of the absolute value of D and to be infinitesimal of order 1 means the sequence of eigenvalues decreasingly ordered is O(<sup>1</sup>/<sub>n</sub>).
- Regularity. The space A + [D, A] is contained in the smooth domain of the derivation δ() = [|D|, ], where the smooth domain of δ is defined as dom<sup>∞</sup>(δ) := ∩<sup>∞</sup><sub>k=1</sub>dom(δ<sup>k</sup>) and the domain of δ<sup>k</sup> is defined recursively as dom(δ<sup>k</sup>) := {b ∈ dom(δ) | δ(b) ∈ dom(δ<sup>k-1</sup>)}, where dom(δ) is the set of linear operators *T* on *H* such that *T*dom(|D|) ⊂ dom(|D|) and [|D|, *T*] extends to a bounded operator on *H*.
- **First order.** The representation of *A*° implemented by *J* commutes with [*D*,*A*].
- **Orientation.** There is a Hochschild cycle  $c_n \in Z_n(A, A \otimes A^\circ)$  such that  $\pi_D(c) = \chi$ , where  $C_n(A, E) := E \otimes A^{\otimes n}$  is the Hochschild chain complex,  $b(e \otimes a_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes a_n) = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} (-1)^j e \otimes \cdots \otimes a_j a_{j+1} \otimes \cdots \otimes a_n + (-1)^n a_n e \otimes a_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes a_{n-1}$  is the Hochschild boundary map,  $Z_n(E, A)$  is the *A*-bimodule of Hochschild cycles and  $\pi_D(c) = \tau_J(a_0)[D, \rho(a_1)] \cdots [D, \rho(a_p)]$  where  $c = a_0 \otimes a_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes a_p$  is an elementary *n*-chain of  $C_n(A, A \otimes A^\circ)$  and  $\tau_J(a \otimes b) = \rho(a) J \rho(b^*) J^{-1}$ .

We now check the preservation of stated properties under products.

- Dimension. Assume (A<sub>i</sub>, ℋ<sub>i</sub>, D<sub>i</sub>, J<sub>i</sub>, (χ<sub>i</sub>))<sub>i=1,2</sub> are two real spectral triples of dimensions n<sub>1</sub> and n<sub>2</sub> respectively. Independently of the parities of the triples, the eigenvalues of D<sup>2</sup> are given by the sum of the eigenvalues of D<sup>2</sup><sub>1</sub> and D<sup>2</sup><sub>2</sub>, and this implies that the dimension of the product triple is n<sub>1</sub> + n<sub>2</sub> (see p. 486 in [26] for details).
- **Regularity.** For even spectral triples the result that the product of two regular triples is regular is contained in [53], which uses the existence of an algebra of generalized differential operators; this works also when at
least one of the two triples is even and for the odd-odd case the argument still can be carried over.

First order. Assume (A<sub>i</sub>, ℋ<sub>i</sub>, D<sub>i</sub>, J<sub>i</sub>, χ<sub>i</sub>)<sub>i=1,2</sub> are two real spectral triples of even dimension satisfying this property. Then the product (A, ℋ, D, J, χ) satisfies it as well: indeed, taking a, b ∈ A, where a = a<sub>1</sub> ⊗ a<sub>2</sub>, b = b<sub>1</sub> ⊗ b<sub>2</sub> we compute:

$$\begin{split} [[D, a], b^{\circ}] &= \left[ \left[ D_{1} \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{H}_{2}} + \chi_{1} \otimes D_{2}, a \right], b^{\circ} \right] \\ &= \left[ \left[ D_{1} \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{H}_{2}}, a \right] + \left[ \chi_{1} \otimes D_{2}, a \right], b^{\circ} \right] \\ &= \left[ \left[ D_{1}, a_{1} \right] \otimes a_{2} + \chi_{1} a_{1} \otimes \left[ D_{2}, a_{2} \right], b^{\circ} \right] \\ &= \left[ \left[ D_{1}, a_{1} \right] \otimes a_{2}, b^{\circ} \right] + \left[ \chi_{1} a_{1} \otimes \left[ D_{2}, a_{2} \right], b^{\circ} \right] \\ &= \left[ \left[ D_{1}, a_{1} \right], b^{\circ}_{1} \right] \otimes a_{2} b^{\circ}_{2} + \chi_{1} a_{1} b^{\circ}_{1} \otimes \left[ \left[ D_{2}, a_{2} \right], b^{\circ}_{2} \right] \\ &= 0, \end{split}$$

$$(4.28)$$

where  $b^{\circ} = Jb^*J^{-1}$ , where we have used the facts that the representations of  $A_i$  and  $A_i^{\circ}$  commute (this is part of the content of condition 5) and also that  $\chi_i$  commutes with the representation of  $A_i$ . Analogously one can prove that the representations of A and  $A^{\circ}$  commute, i.e.  $[a, b^{\circ}] = 0$ . The same computation also applies for  $\tilde{D}$ , and this concludes the proof for the even-even case. For the even-odd case the computations are analogous. For the odd-odd case we compute:

$$\begin{split} \left[ \left[ D, a \right], b^{\circ} \right] &= \left[ \left[ D_{1} \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{H}_{2}} \otimes \sigma_{1} + \operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{H}_{1}} \otimes D_{2} \otimes \sigma_{2}, a \right], b^{\circ} \right] \\ &= \left[ \left[ D_{1} \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{H}_{2}} \otimes \sigma_{1}, a_{1} \otimes a_{2} \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}} \right], b^{\circ}_{1} \otimes b^{\circ}_{2} \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}} \right] + \\ &+ \left[ \left[ \operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{H}_{1}} \otimes D_{2} \otimes \sigma_{2}, a_{1} \otimes a_{2} \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}} \right], b^{\circ}_{1} \otimes b^{\circ}_{2} \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}} \right] \\ &= \left[ \left[ D_{1}, a_{1} \right] \otimes a_{2} \otimes \sigma_{1}, b^{\circ}_{1} \otimes b^{\circ}_{2} \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}} \right] + \\ &+ \left[ a_{1} \otimes \left[ D_{2}, a_{2} \right] \otimes \sigma_{2}, b^{\circ}_{1} \otimes b^{\circ}_{2} \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}} \right] \\ &= \left[ \left[ D_{1}, a_{1} \right], b^{\circ}_{1} \right] \otimes a_{2} b^{\circ}_{2} \otimes \sigma_{1} + \\ &+ a_{1} b^{\circ}_{1} \otimes \left[ \left[ D_{2}, a_{2} \right], b^{\circ}_{2} \right] \otimes \sigma_{2} \\ &= 0, \end{split}$$

$$(4.29)$$

where we used the fact that the representations of  $A_i$  and  $A_i^\circ$  commute. As before, checking that the representations of A and  $A^\circ$  commute is entirely analogous.

Orientation. Given two Hochschild cycles a<sub>i</sub> ∈ Z<sub>ni</sub>(A<sub>i</sub>, A<sub>i</sub> ⊗ A<sub>i</sub>°), i = 1,2, where n<sub>i</sub> is the dimension of the algebra A<sub>i</sub> according to "condition 1", one can construct the Hochschild cycle a ∈ Z<sub>n</sub>(A, A ⊗ A°) (where n = n<sub>1</sub> + n<sub>2</sub> and A = A<sub>1</sub> ⊗ A<sub>2</sub>) using the shuffle product (see [38], section 4.2). Let us provide some details for the construction, following [38]. First define<sup>5</sup> the shuffle product ×: C<sub>n1</sub>(A<sub>1</sub>)⊗C<sub>n2</sub>(A<sub>2</sub>) → C<sub>n1+n2</sub>(A<sub>1</sub>⊗A<sub>2</sub>) of two chains as follows:

$$(a_{0}^{1}, a_{1}^{1}, \dots, a_{p}^{1}) \times (a_{0}^{2}, a_{1}^{2}, \dots, a_{q}^{2}) = \sum_{\sigma} (-1)^{\sigma} \sigma \cdot (a_{0}^{1} \otimes a_{0}^{2}, a_{1}^{1} \otimes 1, \dots, a_{p}^{1} \otimes 1, 1 \otimes a_{1}^{2}, \dots, 1 \otimes a_{q}^{2}),$$
(4.30)

where

$$\sigma \cdot (a_0, a_1, \dots, a_n) = (a_0, a_{\sigma^{-1}(1)}, \dots, a_{\sigma^{-1}(n)})$$
(4.31)

and the sum is over all (p,q)-shuffles, i.e. permutations of  $\{1, ..., p+q\}$  preserving the order of  $\{1, ..., p\}$  and  $\{p+1, ..., p+q\}$  separately. Then for the Hochschild boundary map  $\partial$  the following formula holds:

$$\partial(x \times y) = \partial(x) \times y + (-1)^{|x|} x \times \partial(y). \tag{4.32}$$

From this formula it follows at once that the shuffle product of two Hochschild cycles is again a Hochschild cycle. The orientation condition for a triple now states that there is a Hochschild cycle *c* satisfying the following formula:

$$\pi_D(c) = \chi, \tag{4.33}$$

where the map  $\pi_D$  is defined as:

$$\pi_D(a_0 \otimes a_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes a_p) = \tau_J(a_0)[D, \rho(a_1)] \cdots [D, \rho(a_p)], \quad (4.34)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>For the sake of generality, here we can take the first coefficient  $a_0$  to be in some module over *A*; we will be interested in the case where this module is  $A \otimes A^\circ$ .

where  $a_0 \in A \otimes A^\circ$  and  $\tau_J(a \otimes b) = \rho(a) J \rho(b^*) J^{-1}$ . Given two real spectral triples of dimensions  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  respectively, we claim that if  $c_j$  (j = 1, 2) are Hochschild cycles satisfying  $\pi_{D_j}(c_j) = \chi_j$  then the analogous cycle on the product triple is given by

$$c = \frac{1}{r}c_1 \times c_2,\tag{4.35}$$

where

$$r = \begin{cases} v_{n_1+n_2}, & \text{when } n_1 n_2 \text{ is even} \\ i v_{n_1+n_2}, & \text{when } n_1 n_2 \text{ is odd}, \\ v_n = \frac{1}{2} (n-1)n, \end{cases}$$
(4.36)

where  $v(n) = \frac{1}{2}(n-1)n$ . In order to check formula (4.33) on the product triple with *c* given by equation (4.35) we distinguish three cases depending on the parities involved:

Even-even. A simple computation shows that

$$[D, \rho_1(a) \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{H}_2}] = [D_1, \rho_1(a)] \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{H}_2}$$
  
$$[D, \operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{H}_1} \otimes \rho_2(b)] = \chi_1 \otimes [D_2, \rho_2(b)]$$
(4.37)

from which it follows that

$$\pi_{D}(\sigma \cdot (a_{0} \otimes b_{0}, a_{1} \otimes 1, \dots, a_{n_{1}} \otimes 1, 1 \otimes b_{1}, \dots, 1 \otimes b_{n_{2}})) =$$
  
=  $\Pi \sigma \cdot (\tau_{J_{1}}(a_{0}), [D_{1}, \rho_{1}(a_{1})], \dots, [D_{1}, \rho_{1}(a_{n_{1}})], \chi_{1}, \dots, \chi_{1}) \otimes (4.38)$   
 $\otimes \Pi(\tau_{J_{2}}(b_{0}), [D_{2}, \rho_{2}(b_{1})], \dots, [D_{2}, \rho_{2}(b_{n_{2}})]),$ 

where  $\Pi$  means algebra product of all the elements in the ordered list. Since  $\chi_1$  anti-commutes with  $D_1$  and commutes with  $\rho_1(a)$ for each  $a \in A_1$ , rearranging all the  $n_2$  operators  $\chi_1$  side by side produces a  $(-1)^{\sigma}$  sign which cancels the same sign from the shuffle product; moreover, since  $n_2$  is even, we have  $\chi_1^{n_2} = id_{\mathcal{H}_1}$ ; therefore we are left with a sum of  $\frac{1}{2}(n_1 + n_2 - 1)(n_1 + n_2)$  identical terms:

$$\pi_D(c_1 \times c_2) = v_{n_1+n_2} \pi_{D_1}(c_1) \otimes \pi_{D_2}(c_2)$$
  
=  $v_{n_1+n_2} \chi_1 \otimes \chi_2.$  (4.39)

71

The same reasoning applies to  $\tilde{D}$  with obvious modifications.

**Even-odd.** The previous argument carries over unaltered, but this time we have  $\chi_1^{n_2} = \chi_1$  since  $n_2$  is odd. Then we get

$$\pi_{D}(c_{1} \times c_{2}) = v_{n_{1}+n_{2}} \chi_{1} \pi_{D_{1}}(c_{1}) \otimes \pi_{D_{2}}(c_{2})$$

$$= v_{n_{1}+n_{2}} \chi_{1}^{2} \otimes \chi_{2}$$

$$= v_{n_{1}+n_{2}} \operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{H}_{1}} \otimes (\pm \operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{H}_{2}})$$

$$= \pm v_{n_{1}+n_{2}} \operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{H}_{1}} \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{H}_{2}},$$
(4.40)

as expected. The same reasoning applies to the case where  $n_1$  is odd and  $n_2$  is even, with obvious modifications.

Odd-odd. In this case a simple computation shows that

$$[D, \rho_1(a) \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{H}_2} \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{C}^2}] = [D_1, \rho_1(a)] \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{H}_2} \otimes \sigma_1$$
  
$$[D, \mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{H}_1} \otimes \rho_2(b) \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{C}^2}] = \mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{H}_1} \otimes [D_2, \rho_2(b)] \otimes \sigma_2$$

$$(4.41)$$

from which it follows that

$$\pi_{D}(\sigma \cdot (a_{0} \otimes b_{0}, a_{1} \otimes 1, \dots, a_{n_{1}} \otimes 1, 1 \otimes b_{1}, \dots, 1 \otimes b_{n_{2}})) =$$

$$= \tau_{J_{1}}(a_{0})[D_{1}, \rho_{1}(a_{1})] \cdots [D_{1}, \rho_{1}(a_{n_{1}})] \otimes$$

$$\otimes \tau_{J_{2}}(b_{0})[D_{2}, \rho_{2}(b_{1})] \cdots [D_{2}, \rho_{2}(b_{n_{2}})]) \otimes$$

$$\otimes \Pi \sigma \cdot (1, \underbrace{\sigma_{1}, \dots, \sigma_{1}}_{n_{1} \text{ times}}, \underbrace{\sigma_{2}, \dots, \sigma_{2}}_{n_{2} \text{ times}})$$

$$(4.42)$$

Since  $\sigma_1 \sigma_2 = -\sigma_2 \sigma_1$  we can rearrange the  $\sigma_i$ s with all  $\sigma_1$ s on the left and all  $\sigma_2$ s on the right, producing a  $(-1)^{\sigma}$  sign which cancels the same sign from the shuffle product; moreover since  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  are both odd we get  $\sigma_1^{n_1} \sigma_2^{n_2} = \sigma_1 \sigma_2 = i\sigma_3$ , so we end up with

$$\pi_D(c_1 \times c_2) = v_{n_1+n_2} \ \pi_{D_1}(c_1) \otimes \pi_{D_2}(c_2) \otimes i\sigma_3$$
  
=  $i v_{n_1+n_2} \operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{H}_1} \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{H}_2} \otimes \sigma_3.$  (4.43)

**Remark 4.5.** The orientation axiom is consistent with the observation made in section 4.1 for the classical setting, namely that changing the representation  $\Gamma_{(2m+1,+)}$  to  $\Gamma_{(2m+1,-)}$  is equivalent to changing the orientation of the manifold. In the noncommutative setting, this translates into changing the sign of the Hochschild cycle *c* in (4.33).

## 4.5 FINAL COMMENTS

In this chapter we were concerned with unital spectral triples but the canonical Dirac operator on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  (cf. section 4.1) is not of that type. The definition of a nonunital spectral triple is slightly different, as well as the additional axioms for it. In order to remain in the realm of unital spectral triples, as a commutative compact case study we should take rather the flat torus with the trivial spin structure. This however does not change the form (4.7) of the canonical Dirac operator, but just supplements it with periodic boundary conditions.

It is worth mentioning that in our setup the metric and KO dimensions need not be equal modulo 8. This is the case in some of the recent examples of spectral triples [11] [7] [16], see also [5].

## A THE GRAM-SCHMIDT PROCEDURE AND FRAME BUNDLES

In this appendix we introduce the Gram-Schmidt procedure and show that it provides an isomorphism of frame bundles for different Euclidean metrics  $\eta$  and  $\eta'$  on the same vector bundle  $E \to B$  if and only if the two metrics are conformally equivalent. This contrasts with a claim made in §5 of [19]. We recall to the reader that such frame bundles are indeed isomorphic, but the isomorphism is *not* given by the Gram-Schmidt procedure in general. Rather, it is given by the square root of the based-automorphism ( $\tilde{\eta'}$ )<sup>-1</sup>  $\circ \tilde{\eta}$ :  $E \to E$  (apply Lemma 2.17 to the case E' = E).

**Definition A.1.** Given two (p,q)-metrics  $\eta$  and  $\eta'$  on a vector bundle  $E \to B$ , they are called *conformally equivalent* if there is a strictly positive smooth function  $\lambda: B \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ ,  $x \mapsto \lambda_x$ , such that  $\eta'(v_x, w_x) = \lambda_x \eta(v_x, w_x)$  for each  $v_x, w_x \in E_x$  and each  $x \in B$ .

**Definition A.2.** Given a *n*-dimensional real vector space *V* equipped with a definite positive bilinear form ( | ):  $V \times V \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$ , the Gram-Schmidt procedure assigns to each basis *e* of *V* an orthonormal basis *e'* defined recursively as follows. If the first *j* vectors of *e* are already orthonormal, the (j+1)-th vector  $e'_{j+1}$  is defined by  $e'_{j+1} := l_{j+1}/\sqrt{(l_{j+1} | l_{j+1})}$  where  $l_{j+1} := e_{j+1} - \sum_{k=1}^{j} (e_{j+1} | e_k) e_k$ . In

other words, to each vector we subtract the vector sum of its projections onto each previous vector and we normalize the final result.

The Gram-Schmidt procedure gives an upper triangular matrix  $G_e^{(1)}$  such that  $eG_e^{(1)}$  is orthonormal, where  $eG_e^{(1)} = (e_i(G_e^{(1)})_{i1}, \ldots, e_i(G_e^{(1)})_{in})$ . Now, given two Euclidean metrics  $\eta$  and  $\eta'$  on a vector bundle  $E \to B$ , we can apply this procedure to their frame bundles as follows. Each  $\eta$ -orthonormal frame  $e_x \in E_x$  is a basis of the vector space  $E_x$ . Then  $e_x G_{e_x}^{\eta'}$  is a  $\eta'$ -orthonormal frame over  $x \in B$ . Hence we have a well defined map  $G_{\eta,\eta'}$ :  $Fr(E_\eta) \to Fr(E_{\eta'})$ , and a brief inspection of the algorithm shows that it is indeed smooth. The following proposition clarifies when this smooth map is a based-O<sub>n</sub>-morphism of principal bundles.

**Proposition A.3.** Given two Euclidean metrics  $\eta$  and  $\eta'$  on a vector bundle  $E \to B$ , the map  $G_{\eta,\eta'}$ :  $Fr(E_{\eta}) \to Fr(E_{\eta'})$  is a based-O<sub>n</sub>-morphism of principal bundles if and only if  $\eta$  and  $\eta'$  are conformally equivalent.

*Proof.* The smooth map  $G_{\eta,\eta'}$  is a based- $O_n$ -morphism of principal bundles if and only if  $G_{\eta,\eta'}(eR) = G_{\eta,\eta'}(e)R$  for each  $R \in O_n$ , that is:

$$eRG_{eR}^{\eta'} = eG_e^{\eta'}R \quad \forall e \in Fr(E_\eta), \ \forall R \in \mathcal{O}_n$$
(A.1)

(round brackets suppressed because of associativity of the products involved).

Assume  $\eta'(v_x, w_x) = \lambda_x \eta(v_x, w_x)$  for some smooth strictly positive  $\lambda$ . By looking at the Gram-Schmidt procedure it is straightforward to see that  $G_{e_x}^{\eta'} = \lambda_x^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_n$  for any  $e_x \in Fr(E_\eta)$ , which clearly satisfies (A.1).

Now assume that  $G_{\eta,\eta'}$  satisfies (A.1) and consider the SO<sub>n</sub> matrix

$$R_{\theta} = \left(\begin{array}{cc} \widetilde{R_{\theta}} & 0\\ 0 & \mathbf{1}_{n-2} \end{array}\right)$$

where

$$\widetilde{R_{\theta}} = \left(\begin{array}{cc} \cos\theta & -\sin\theta \\ \sin\theta & \cos\theta \end{array}\right) \,.$$

76

We fix an arbitrary  $e \in Fr(E_{\eta})$  (subscript *x* understood) and compute the first vector of equation (A.1) for  $R = R_{\theta}$ :

$$(G_{eR_{\theta}})_{11}[\cos\theta e_{1} + \sin\theta e_{2}] = [(G_{e})_{11}\cos\theta + (G_{e})_{12}\sin\theta]e_{1} + (G_{e})_{22}\sin\theta e_{2}.$$

Since  $e_1$  and  $e_2$  are linearly independent we can equate coefficients of both sides. In particular for  $e_2$  we obtain

$$(G_{eR_{\theta}})_{11} = (G_e)_{22} \quad \forall \theta \in (0,\pi)$$

hence  $(G_{eR_{\theta}})_{11}$  does not depend on  $\theta$ . An elementary computation shows that  $(G_{eR_{\theta}})_{11}$  is given by

$$(G_{eR_{\theta}})_{11} = [\eta'(\cos\theta e_1 + \sin\theta e_2, \cos\theta e_1 + \sin\theta e_2)]^{-1/2} = [\eta'(e_1, e_1)\cos^2\theta + \eta'(e_2, e_2)\sin^2\theta + 2\eta'(e_1, e_2)\sin\theta\cos\theta]^{-1/2}.$$

A series expansion in  $\theta \rightarrow 0$  gives

$$(G_{eR_{\theta}})_{11} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\eta'(e_1, e_1)}} \left[ 1 - \frac{\eta'(e_1, e_2)}{\eta'(e_1, e_1)} \theta \right] + \mathcal{O}(\theta^2)$$

from which we get

$$\eta'(e_1, e_2) = 0$$
 and  $\eta'(e_1, e_1) = \eta'(e_2, e_2)$ .

Since  $e \in Fr(E_{\eta})$  is arbitrary we can apply the above argument to any frame obtained from *e* by permuting its elements, therefore we get

$$\eta'(e_{\sigma(1)}, e_{\sigma(2)}) = 0$$
 and  $\eta'(e_{\sigma(1)}, e_{\sigma(1)}) = \eta'(e_{\sigma(2)}, e_{\sigma(2)}) \quad \forall \sigma \in S_n$ .

Since  $S_n$  acts 2-transitively on  $\{1, 2, ..., n\}$ , we conclude that

$$\eta'(e_i, e_j) = 0$$
 and  $\eta'(e_i, e_i) = \eta'(e_j, e_j) \quad \forall i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}, i \neq j$ .

Finally,  $\lambda_x := \eta'(e_{x,i}, e_{x,i})/\eta(e_{x,i}, e_{x,i})$  is a well-defined<sup>1</sup> function  $\lambda: M \to \mathbb{R}$ such that  $\eta'(v_x, w_x) = \lambda_x \eta(v_x, w_x)$ . Being a product of two smooth strictly positive functions,  $\lambda$  itself must be so and the proof is complete.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> $\lambda$  does not depend on the choice of e: if  $\mu_x := \eta'(\hat{e}_{x,i}, \hat{e}_{x,i})/\eta(\hat{e}_{x,i}, \hat{e}_{x,i})$  for some  $\hat{e} \in Fr(E_\eta)$  then  $\eta'(v_x, w_x) = \mu_x \eta(v_x, w_x) = \lambda_x \eta(v_x, w_x)$  therefore  $\mu = \lambda$ .

## B COVERING GROUPS

Given a connected topological space *B*, a (connected) covering is a (connected) space *Y* together with a continuous surjection  $p: Y \to B$  such that each  $x \in B$  has a neighbourhood  $U \subset B$  with the property that *p* is a homeomorphism on each connected component of  $p^{-1}(U)$ . Two coverings  $Y \xrightarrow{p} B$  and  $Y' \xrightarrow{p'} B$  are equivalent if there is a homeomorphism  $f: Y \to Y'$  such that  $p = p' \circ f$ . For a sufficiently nice space *B*, its connected coverings are completely determined (up to equivalence) by the set of conjugacy classes of subgroups of  $\pi_1(B)$ , by the following theorem (see Theorem 79.2 in [43]).

**Theorem B.1.** Given two coverings  $Y \xrightarrow{p} B$ ,  $Y' \xrightarrow{p'} B$  and points  $y \in Y$ ,  $y' \in Y'$ such that p(y) = p'(y') = b where  $b \in B$ , the coverings are equivalent if and only if the subgroups  $p_*(\pi_1(Y, y))$  and  $p'_*(\pi_1(Y', y'))$  are conjugate in  $\pi_1(B, b)$ .

Given *B* and a subgroup  $H \subset \pi_1(B, b)$ , we can construct a connected covering  $Y \xrightarrow{p} B$  such that  $p_*(\pi_1(Y, y)) = H$  as follows. Consider the set P(B, b) of paths  $\alpha: [0,1] \to B$  such that  $\alpha(0) = b$  and declare two paths  $\alpha, \beta \in P(B, b)$ equivalent if  $[\alpha * \overline{\beta}] \in H$ , where \* denotes composition of paths,  $\overline{\beta}$  is the path  $\beta$  traced backwards, and square brackets denote the homotopy class. The equivalence class of  $\alpha$  is denoted by  $\alpha^{\sharp}$ . The covering is then defined as  $P(B,b)/\sim \to B$  with projection p given by  $P(B,b)/\sim \ni \alpha^{\sharp} \mapsto \alpha(1) \in B$ . The topology of  $P(B, b)/\sim$  is defined by transferring the topology of B to  $P(B, b)/\sim$ through the collection of bijections  $p \upharpoonright P(U, \alpha)$  where  $P(U, \alpha) = \{(\alpha * \delta)^{\sharp} \mid$  $\delta: [0,1] \to U$  such that  $\delta(0) = \alpha(1)$  and  $U \subset B$  is a path-connected neighbourhood of  $\alpha(1)$ . The number of sheets of the covering is given by the index of H in  $\pi_1(B, b)$ . When B is a topological group, this construction yields a topological group by defining the product  $\alpha^{\sharp}\beta^{\sharp} = (\alpha\beta)^{\sharp}$ , where  $\alpha\beta : [0,1] \to B$  is defined by  $(\alpha\beta)(t) = \alpha(t)\beta(t)$  and the last multiplication is by the group law of B. This definition is well posed since, for any paths  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta$  with  $\alpha(1) = \beta(1) = \beta(1)$  $\gamma(0) = \delta(0)$  we have the equality  $(\alpha\beta) * (\gamma\delta) = (\alpha * \gamma)(\beta * \delta)$ , so if  $\alpha^{\sharp} = {\alpha'}^{\sharp}$  we get  $[(\alpha\beta)*(\overline{\alpha'\beta})] = [(\alpha*\overline{\alpha'})(\beta*\overline{\beta})] = [\alpha*\overline{\alpha'}] \in H$  which means  $(\alpha\beta)^{\sharp} = (\alpha'\beta)^{\sharp}$ . Since  $p(\alpha^{\sharp}\beta^{\sharp}) = (\alpha\beta)(1) = \alpha(1)\beta(1) = p(\alpha^{\sharp})p(\beta^{\sharp}), p$  becomes a homomorphism of topological groups and this definition of group structure is the unique one (up to a choice of the identity element in  $p^{-1}(1)$ ) making p a homomorphism of topological groups (e.g. see [43]). When B is a Lie group, we can put a Lie group structure on  $P(B,b)/\sim$  by means of the maps  $p \upharpoonright P(U,\alpha)$ . In this case p becomes a homomorphism of Lie groups.

The case H = 1 clearly gives the universal covering group.

We now apply the general theory above to study the 2-sheeted coverings of  $B = GL_n^+$ . The fundamental group is given by the following table.

	n = 1	n = 2	$n \ge 3$
$\pi_1(\operatorname{GL}_n^+)$	0	$\mathbb{Z}$	$\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$

By the above discussion, we deduce that the only 2-sheeted covering of  $GL_1^+$  is the trivial (hence non-connected) covering  $\widetilde{GL}_1^+ \simeq GL_1^+ \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{\rho_1} GL_1^+$ , with obvious componentwise group structure and projection. Since  $\mathbb{Z}$  has only one index 2 subgroup (the even integers), we deduce  $GL_2^+$  has a unique nontrivial 2-sheeted covering  $\widetilde{GL}_2^+ \xrightarrow{\rho_2} GL_2^+$ . Finally, for  $n \ge 3$   $GL_n^+$  has a unique nontrivial 2-sheeted covering  $\widetilde{GL}_n^+ \xrightarrow{\rho_n} GL_n^+$  and it is universal. It should be noted that  $\widetilde{GL}_n^+$  ( $n \ge 3$ ) is not a matrix Lie group (e.g. see Lemma 5.23 in [36]).

When we apply the general theory to  $B = SO_n$ , we obtain the so called spin groups  $Spin_n$ . When we apply it to  $B = O_{p,q}^0 = SO_{p,q}^0$ , where 0 means "connected component of the identity element", we obtain  $Spin_{p,q}^0$  which is the connected component of  $\rho^{-1}(SO_{p,q}) \subset \widetilde{GL}_n^+$  (for p and q both greater than 2 it is already connected). In particular,  $\operatorname{Spin}_{1,n-1}^0 \to \operatorname{SO}_{1,n-1}^0$  is isomorphic to a (unique for  $n \ge 3$ ) nontrivial double covering of  $\operatorname{SO}_{1,n-1}^0$  (see [51] and [21] vol.1 p.518).

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [1] E. Binz and R. Pferschy. The Dirac operator and the change of the metric. *C. R. Math. Rep. Acad. Sci. Canada*, 5(6):269–274, 1983.
- [2] A. Borel and F. Hirzebruch. Characteristic classes and homogeneous spaces. II. *Amer. J. Math.*, 81:315–382, 1959.
- [3] J.-P. Bourguignon and P. Gauduchon. Spineurs, opérateurs de Dirac et variations de métriques. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 144(3):581–599, 1992.
- [4] F. Brickell and R. Clark. *Differentiable manifolds. An introduction*. The New University Mathematics Series. London etc.: Van Nostrand Reinhold Company Ltd. XI, 289 p., 1970.
- [5] B. Ćaćić. Moduli spaces of Dirac operators for finite spectral triples. In *Quantum groups and noncommutative spaces*, Aspects Math., E41, pages 9–68. Vieweg + Teubner, Wiesbaden, 2011.
- [6] A. H. Chamseddine and A. Connes. Quantum gravity boundary terms from the spectral action of noncommutative space. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 99(7):071302, 4, 2007.
- [7] A. H. Chamseddine and A. Connes. Why the standard model. *J. Geom. Phys.*, 58(1):38–47, 2008.

- [8] C. J. S. Clarke. Magnetic charge, holonomy and characteristic classes: illustrations of the methods of topology in relativity. *General Relativity and Gravitation*, 2:43–51, 1971.
- [9] A. Connes. *Noncommutative geometry*. Academic Press Inc., San Diego, CA, 1994.
- [10] A. Connes. Gravity coupled with matter and the foundation of noncommutative geometry. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 182(1):155–176, 1996.
- [11] A. Connes and M. Marcolli. Noncommutative geometry, quantum fields and motives, volume 55 of American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2008.
- [12] L. Dabrowski. *Group actions on spinors*, volume 9 of *Monographs and Textbooks in Physical Science. Lecture Notes.* Bibliopolis, Naples, 1988.
- [13] L. Dabrowski and G. Dossena. Product of real spectral triples. Int. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys., 8(8):1833–1848, 2011.
- [14] L. Dabrowski and G. Dossena. Dirac operator on spinors and diffeomorphisms. Preprint available at http://arxiv.org/abs/1209.2021, 2012, to be published in Class. Quantum Grav.
- [15] L. Dabrowski and R. Percacci. Spinors and diffeomorphisms. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 106(4):691–704, 1986.
- [16] L. Dabrowski and A. Sitarz. Dirac operator on the standard Podleś quantum sphere. In *Noncommutative geometry and quantum groups (Warsaw, 2001)*, volume 61 of *Banach Center Publ.*, pages 49–58. Polish Acad. Sci., Warsaw, 2003.
- [17] P. Dedecker. Extension du groupe structural d'un espace fibré. In *Colloque de topologie de Strasbourg, mai 1955*, page 15. Institut de Mathématique de l'Université de Strasbourg, 1955.

- [18] A. Dold. Partitions of unity in the theory of fibrations. *Ann. of Math. (2)*, 78:223–255, 1963.
- [19] L. Fatibene and M. Francaviglia. Deformations of spin structures and gravity. *Acta Phys. Polon. B*, 29(4):915–928, 1998. Gauge theories of gravitation (Jadwisin, 1997).
- [20] V. Fock. Geometrisierung der Diracschen Theorie des Elektrons. Zeitschrift für Physik A Hadrons and Nuclei, 57:261–277, 1929.
- [21] J.-P. Françoise, G. L. Naber, and T. S. Tsun, editors. *Encyclopedia of mathematical physics. Vol. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5*. Academic Press/Elsevier Science, Oxford, 2006.
- [22] J. Frenkel. Cohomologie à valeurs dans un faisceau non abélien. *C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris*, 240:2368–2370, 1955.
- [23] I. Gelfand and M. Neumark. On the imbedding of normed rings into the ring of operators in Hilbert space. *Rec. Math. [Mat. Sbornik] N.S.*, 12(54):197–213, 1943.
- [24] M. Godina and P. Matteucci. Reductive *G*-structures and Lie derivatives. *J. Geom. Phys.*, 47(1):66–86, 2003.
- [25] R. E. Gompf and A. I. Stipsicz. 4-manifolds and Kirby calculus, volume 20 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1999.
- [26] J. M. Gracia-Bondía, J. C. Várilly, and H. Figueroa. *Elements of non-commutative geometry*. Birkhäuser Advanced Texts: Basler Lehrbücher.
   [Birkhäuser Advanced Texts: Basel Textbooks]. Birkhäuser Boston Inc., Boston, MA, 2001.
- [27] A. Grothendieck. *A general theory of fibre spaces with structure sheaf*. University of Kansas Dept. of Mathematics, Lawrence Kan., 1955.

- [28] A. Haefliger. Sur l'extension du groupe structural d'un espace fibré. *C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris*, 243:558–560, 1956.
- [29] M. W. Hirsch. *Differential topology*. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1976. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, No. 33.
- [30] D. Husemoller. *Fibre bundles*, volume 20 of *Graduate Texts in Mathematics*. Springer-Verlag, New York, third edition, 1994.
- [31] D. Husemöller, M. Joachim, B. Jurčo, and M. Schottenloher. Basic bundle theory and K-cohomology invariants, volume 726 of Lecture Notes in Physics. Springer, Berlin, 2008. With contributions by Siegfried Echterhoff, Stefan Fredenhagen and Bernhard Krötz.
- [32] M. Karoubi. K-theory. An introduction. With a new postface by the author and a list of errata. Reprint of the 1978 original. Classics in Mathematics. Berlin: Springer. xviii, 322 p., 2008.
- [33] U. Koschorke. Concordance and bordism of line fields. *Invent. Math.*, 24:241–268, 1974.
- [34] U. Koschorke. Homotopy classification of line fields and of Lorentz metrics on closed manifolds. *Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc.*, 132(2):281– 300, 2002.
- [35] Y. Kosmann. Dérivées de Lie des spineurs. *Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4)*, 91:317–395, 1972.
- [36] H. B. Lawson, Jr. and M.-L. Michelsohn. Spin geometry, volume 38 of Princeton Mathematical Series. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1989.
- [37] A. Lichnerowicz. Champs spinoriels et propagateurs en relativité générale. *Bull. Soc. Math. France*, 92:11–100, 1964.

- [38] J.-L. Loday. Cyclic homology, volume 301 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, second edition, 1998. Appendix E by María O. Ronco, Chapter 13 by the author in collaboration with Teimuraz Pirashvili.
- [39] J. Milnor. Spin structures on manifolds. *Enseignement Math.* (2), 9:198–203, 1963.
- [40] J. W. Milnor. Remarks concerning spin manifolds. In *Differential and Combinatorial Topology (A Symposium in Honor of Marston Morse)*, pages 55–62. Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, N.J., 1965.
- [41] J. W. Milnor and J. D. Stasheff. *Characteristic classes*. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N. J., 1974. Annals of Mathematics Studies, No. 76.
- [42] S. Morrison. Classifying spinor structures. Bsc with honours in pure mathematics thesis, University of New South Wales, June 2001. http://arxiv.org/abs/math-ph/0106007.
- [43] J. R. Munkres. *Topology: a first course*. Prentice-Hall Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1975.
- [44] Y. Ne'eman and D. Šijački. Unified affine gauge theory of gravity and strong interactions with finite and infinite  $\overline{GL}(4, R)$  spinor fields. *Ann. Physics*, 120(2):292–315, 1979.
- [45] D. Šijački. The unitary irreducible representations of SL(3, R). J. Math. Phys., 16:298–311, 1975.
- [46] A. Sitarz. Habilitation thesis introduction. Available at the web address http://th-www.if.uj.edu.pl/~sitarz/publ-gb.html, 2001.
- [47] N. Steenrod. *The Topology of Fibre Bundles*. Princeton Mathematical Series, vol. 14. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N. J., 1951.

- [48] S. Stolz. A conjecture concerning positive Ricci curvature and the Witten genus. *Math. Ann.*, 304(4):785–800, 1996.
- [49] S. T. Swift. Natural bundles. II. Spin and the diffeomorphism group. J. Math. Phys., 34(8):3825–3840, 1993.
- [50] A. Trautman. Clifford and the "square root" ideas. In *Geometry and nature (Madeira, 1995)*, volume 203 of *Contemp. Math.*, pages 3–24. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1997.
- [51] A. Trautman. On eight kinds of spinors. Acta Phys. Polon. B, 36(1):121– 130, 2005.
- [52] A. Trautman. Connections and the Dirac operator on spinor bundles. *J. Geom. Phys.*, 58(2):238–252, 2008.
- [53] O. Uuye. Pseudo-differential operators and regularity of spectral triples. In *Perspectives on noncommutative geometry*, volume 61 of *Fields Inst. Commun.*, pages 153–163. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2011.
- [54] F. J. Vanhecke. On the product of real spectral triples. *Lett. Math. Phys.*, 50(2):157–162, 1999.
- [55] F. W. Warner. Foundations of differentiable manifolds and Lie groups, volume 94 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1983. Corrected reprint of the 1971 edition.
- [56] C. Wetterich. Dimensional reduction of Weyl, Majorana and Majorana-Weyl spinors. *Nuclear Physics B*, 222(1):20–44, 1983.
- [57] H. Weyl. Elektron und Gravitation. i. *Zeitschrift für Physik A Hadrons and Nuclei*, 56:330–352, 1929.